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@t of General Sessions of the Leare

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK

THE PROPLE OF THE STATE orF Nxw Yorxk,

against

g
ClA 09 Q/octhw? /

The Grand Jury of thg City and County of New Yorlk, by this indictment, accuse

e L chx/@,ﬂ;__.,ﬂ —
of the Crms o-GSRIAINE STRONG AND SPIRITUOUS LIQUORS, WINES, ALE AND
BEER ON SUNDAY, committed as follows :

)
The said - C7‘&CTJ{%-Z L ez O@C‘L’Q?“(/

- - AT

late of the City of New_v_ York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the

day of N\~ Lo et/ - -—- in the year of our Lord one thousand emht hundred and
ninety- —lcors > at the City and County aforesaid, the same being Sunday, certain strong
and spirituous liguors, wines, ale and beer, to wit: One gill of wine, one gill of brandy, one gill
of rum, one gill of gin, one gill of whiskey, one gill of cordial, one gill of bitters, one gill of ale,
one gill of porter, one gill of beer, one gill of lager beer, and one gill of a certain stro ong and spiritu-

ous liquor to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, unlawfully did sell, toconme—

-a0d- to certain ether persons whose names are to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, against
the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of

New York and their dignity.

SECOND COUNT—

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said

— v <><0a~,<°.
& )
of the CriME or SOFTER %:T}C}u{]) ZLXPOSING FOR SALE SU\IDAY STRONG AND SPIRITUOUS Liquors,

WINES, ALE AND B]%‘BR, committed as follows:

The said —— &\@4%4_,4“7 O(( 6{,/(‘?6/(/

late of the .City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year aforesaid, the
same being Sunday, certain strong and spirituous liguors, wines, ale and beer, to wit: One gill of
wine, one gill of brandy, one gill of rum, one giil of gin, one gill of whiskey, one gill of cordinl, one
gill of bitters, one gill of ale, one gill of porter, one gill of beer, one gill of lager beer, and one gill of
a certain strong and spirituous liquor to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, unlawifully did offer and

expose for sale to one .

and to certain other persons whos a,m%he Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, against the
form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State

of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL

District Astorney.
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@omrt of General Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TreE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEw YORE,

against

/

The Grand FJury of the City and County of New Yorl, by this indiectment, accuse

0K 2| ()K‘Mg/u«_a/\ s
of the CRIME oOF TLLING STRONG AN SPIRITUOUS LIQUORS, WINES, ALER AND
BEER ON SUNDAY, committed as follows:

The said S (:}\,Q/(L,t ( >(0C‘/<—'(/‘( ? e S
p

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the - /rf (/7/? R
day of . _ \2/7{/6(,4/0\_/6’»4’1/( — in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and
ninety- lrd - , at the City and County aforesaid, the same being Sunday, certain strong
and spirituous liquors, wines, ale and beer, to wit: One gill of wine, one gill of brandy, one gill
of rum, one gill of gin, one gill of whiskey, one gill of cordial, one gill of bitters, one gill of ale,
one gill of porter, one gill of beer, one gill of lager beer, and one gill of a certain strong and spiritu-
ous liguor to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, unlawifully did sell, te-ene-

and tdl’cerj;ain—eﬂrer persons whose names are to the Grand Jury aforesaicd unknown, against
the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of

New York and their dignity.

SECOND COUNT—
And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said

. , b
> ) 2y X ek ¢ re <10 }
of the CRIME 0F OFFERING “AND HEXPOSING FOR SALE /ON SUNDAY S

WINES, ALE AND BEER, committed as follows:

The said - C./M-bl =0 am ((r/ 2109 / e

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year aforesaid, the
same being Sunday, certain strong and spirituous liquors, wines, ale and beer, to wit: One gill of
wine, one gill of brandy, one gill of rum, one gill of gin, one gill of whiskey, one gill of cordial, one
gill of bitters, one gill of ale, one gill of porter, one gill of beer, one gill of lager beer, and one gill of
a certain strong and spirituous liquor to the Grand Jury aforesaid unkmnown, unlawfully did offer and

expose for sale to one

' ] /}(‘}% %t/e < W —
and to certain other persons whose names are ( e 'Grand-Juiy aforesaid unknéwn, against the

form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State

of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL

District Aitorney.
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PPolice Couxrt—.. >~ District. Affidavit—Larceny.

@ity and (wmtt*r}ts /
of et Fork, o %
d \_/({4/4 a2 et A
of No. .é 7 o~ = eeb, ad / years,

oceupation. . S A e e being duly sworrn,

= / :
deposes % Z N 18.9/24/ he City of New
York, in the County of New Yorlk, was feloniously taken, ’stolan and carried away from the possession

of depopent, in t/‘z,e..(.é‘(t..,(. .......ﬁ.,tinbe, the following property, viz:
~

and that this deponent

has « probable cause to swspeet, and does sz@pc(t that the said property was Seloniously talken, stolen

and carried away by. ?77/{,@/4//(4//44 4& »61/ ¢
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Sec. 198—200.

CITY AN®\COPNTY |,

OF NEW) RK, ¢
S A Qae&aﬁduly examined before the under-

signed according to law, on the annexed charge, and being infoymed that it is h right to

ake a statement in relation to the charge against h ; that the statement is designed to
enable h if  he sces fit, to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h ;
that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h waiver cannot be used
against h on the trial.

Question. What is yoyﬁamg _ﬁ%

Answer. 7

o
Question. How old are vou ?

Auszeoer. 3 ( .

Question. Where were youlbo

Austeoer.

Qreestion.

Anscwwer.

uestion. \What is y om/ﬁujnebs or profession ?

Asszoer. ( - - //l//“*f /

Give any explanatrion you may think proper of the circumsiances appearing in the testimony
against y d state any facts which you think will tend to your exculpation.

Quwestion.




o dop
7 42@ uayn |

b

=

Sec 198—200 District Police Court.

CLY Aﬁb COUNTY
K%

W YORK, W
// / being duly examined before the under-

signed accord g to law, on the annexed charge, and being informed that it is h right to
make a stat(:: ent in relation to the charge against U ; that the statement is designed to

enable h \if he seces fit, to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h 5
that he is @t liberty to waive making a statement, and that hY waiver cannot be us

against h on the trial.

Questior. \( your name ?
Ansewer. /é Z 54/@7 (\%/él’,(/(/( P %‘ ﬂv%

Question. How old are you ?

—
@*——c’»«’_;7 —= = e

Answwer.

Questiorn. Where were you¢>2Lp

Arnswer.
Question. Where do you live and how long hzwe resided tl d /

s, 2&7 & = 7

Question.  What is your business or profession ?
Anseeer. ) Q&Z&%{ ’ - “ ot AL
e - ‘
Give any explanatien you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testimony

(Questionn.
against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your exculpation.

Answer.




Lt cppecring to 1e Dy tlie witlhiin deposiliorns and statlernrerts tlheat tie eris

convinibted. crnd that there is sujjicient cawse to belicve the wi

be admitted 10 bail irn the swin of

be Tveldd to answer thvcBame ard Tee

o L

.and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

Tlurndred Dollars,

the City I’rison, oj4le City of Newe Torle, until

e
(/.

Give .ilék—,b/zjbi
//

I 7eave adnritted the alove-r anud

to Uil to answer by the wnderteicins i ercto anneaed.
Y £

Liated. 18

TTeere being rno swffeient catse to belicne the weithin nanved

SGWilty of the offcrce twitlvin mentioned. 1 order . to be disclurerged.

..... Police J
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Eal

CITY AND COUNTY |
OF NEW YORK, (5%

( A A AT
aged . é years, occupation %

Ve NP

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponents’ own

knowled e,

Srwern to before e, //u'.\-.za
a /s

ol
i .
_/')/I/Il‘ 2




CITY AND COUNTY | __
OF NEW YORK, | S

“Street, being duly@dﬁoses and
: 2 .

P g o
says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of LA W ” ‘T

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are ftrue of deponent’s own

knowledge.

=Police Justice.




Gonvt of Geneval Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Topr PEOPLE OF THE STATE OoF NEw YORK

S e e

%\4{_/"7/ -oT_2.
W(M/
., The Grand & XY of the City and County of New Y(n]\, by this incdictment, accuse

Wlﬂ f/@m/éw/b-f@( Q(W@V@

of the Criny or GRAND LARCENY IN THE M/W‘/l/d DEGRER, CO!Ilmltth

as follows? &-
The Sq‘]d/ év/c/ﬁ/év\_/c///g/— %Q/X
M Wﬁﬁ%f A, T

late of the Qify of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the e Z%
day of— 7 PR e in the year of our Lord omne thousand eight hundred and
niuety—\ﬁ«/@ at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

A A

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one\é/(/ﬁ/z‘a/z/\ %WM

then and there being found, then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against
the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People

of the State of New York and their digrity.




SECOND COUNT—

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, furiher accuse the said
—. < -M 7

of the CRI\[E oF “CRI! IJALLY RECE VI G STOLEN PROPERTY, committed as follows :
The said mj ) T, 7
o N S

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year afore-

said, at the-City- and -Ceunty- aforesaid, with forece and arms,

~

il o -~ e

= CeL

by a certain person or persons to the Grand Jury afopdSaid unknown, then lately Dbefore

feloniously stolen, taken nnd carried away from the said ‘ %
§~" - - et LA

unlgyfully and unjustly did feloniously receive and have; the said

"\~—~-—.—\__th.ll-—&Bﬂ“ﬂlelﬂ—well——-;m—ﬁ()‘&llag the--said.-.goods, chattels and personal property to have been
feloniously stolen, taken and carried away, against the form of the statute in such case made

and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New Yovk and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

LDistrict Attorney.
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Sec. 198—20
D C

UNTY ) .
s

A co
NEW YORI\.

sifned according to Hw
make a statement
‘/11—-5__. if

enable
that
against

he

Question.
Answer.
Questior.
Anseeer.
Question.
A nvzver
Question.
Answer.
Question.
Answer.

Question.

Ansewer,

IR ¢ VO S

7

District Police Court.

being duly examined before .the under-

in relation to the charge against
he sees fit, to answer the char

is at liberty to waive making a statement,

on the trial.

K,
A //62///1/“

Whatis our name ?

/\ %’ZW//

How old are you ?
Where wére W Z/&/

&

W hue do ynu live

/Zé ///W

What is your bUbll]L‘ab (7— profession ¥
D Z2p fE Ear Dos

Give any cxplanation ou may think proper
3 Y I

against you, and state any facts which
5 S
[ o, ( AL

on the annexed charge, and being
h H
ge and explain the facts alleged against

il how lonu have vou reside

of the circumstances appe

you thiftk will ‘tend to your exculpation.
<
S .

xS

mfoxmccl that it is h -, right to
that the statemenf is designed to
Il\—/\w
waiver canfict be used

h Z-o>

and that

Prs 2207

aring in the testimony

o
T




Sec. 151. Police Court

CITY AND COUNTY Tn the name of the People of the State of New York; o the Sheriff of the County
OF NEW YORK, S8 of New Yorkeopy wiy Murshal or Policeman oy the City of New Xork, GREETING :

of No. L L4 4

x?;y,l—hc City of Ne “ork, in the County of New York, *

he was violenily Assanlted and Beaten b

Vo herefore, the said Complainant has prayed that the said Defendant  may be apprehended and bound to
answer the said complaint.

These are Lherefore, in the name of the PEOPLE of the State of New York, to command yox
SherifF, Jlurshals and Loli men, and each and every of you, to apprehend the said Defendant and bring
forthwith before me, at the._ DISTRICT POLICE COUR'T, in the said City, or in case of my absence
or inability to act, before the nearest or most accessible Police Justice in this City, to answer the said charge, and to

be dealt with according to law.

PoLice JUSTICE.
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It appearing o me by the 1cithin depositions nnd

statements that the crime cherein.
convinttted. and that there is stefficient coawse to

mentioned Rhoas been
lieyt the within rnamed .. ..

£ € .
ereof, I order that he De leld Lo arslfer the sanie, cnd.  he be admitted (o Dail T the s A
e e e Hundred Daollers,

Y Lrison of the City oy New York, rentil

Daterl, 4..%2/._4 / é

and be committed 2o the Warden arnd Keeper of

e give swch 71(}

Police Jwstice.

/
I Ivave admitted the above-named........

to bail to arswer by the wndertalking hereto anneved.

Lrted, ... I89

There beingd no swfficient canse to heliere the i

thin named

Suilty of the offernse 1itirin mentioned, I order h

o be dischargded.

Police Jiestice.




THI PEOPLE ,

BAILED,

ZLRessdernce _ Street.

No. 2, by ..
Leesidence Strect. Magistrute,

LOflicer,
Precinet,
Street.
Witnes
No.

Reséderce .. .. Street.

Lo nnswee e
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&

CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK, SS-

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of £V

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent aé true of deponent’s own

knowledge.




Q District Police Court.

D SOUNTY
FNEW YORK, lss

—
/\//7 //‘// /&V/ QAA being duly examined before the under-
is W right to

_-sign according to law, on the annexed charge, and being informed that it i
" make a statement in relation to the charge against I1M that the statemetit is designed to
he sees fit, to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h 7z 22/

cnable 1 if
that ’l‘e//‘/l:t -liberty to waive making a statement, and that h -Z.” waiver cannot be used

against yb/—"on the trial.
-
Tis %name ?

Question. szi%

/
Answer. & w’/l é(/
Questionr. How old are you?

- Gl 22l

-

Question. \thrc/ efe vou bo
) &/”Zé ., 2 2ie PN

Arnczeer C

7
Questiorn. Where do you)nz how logys have you xuﬂdn.d(j]éé
7 A
75 / P / 7 2 //M

Answer.

Arnswer.

Question.  \What is youx business or prpfession

S {/&/7/”

Question.  Give :my cexplanation you ay think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testimony
FHist you, and state any facts which you think will Zlfyou: exculpation.

’ g A
“ZZ 22l 2P / gl /,;

-

y

Answwer.

o fop

1
/

<, © -
e g

77 Jllu%f.}/] usyv |

/W/’W
/

il

Vi
6815
-

&




(2]

It appearing o me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned huas been

commnitted, and that there is suffieient, cawse to believe the wi , reanved .
,

aznsier e

scmve, and  he be admiited 1o bail i the sum of

2., . Thendred Dollers,. . and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

ty of New Xorlk, wntil he ZFive such
7 -~

olice Jewstice.

I Irave admitted the above-named..... ..

to bail to answer by the undertalking hereto anneved.

Dated, LI89 - Police Jwstice.

There being no sufficient canse to beliere the within named..... .. .

————eooPdlice Justice.
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PLE, &c.,
ON THE COMPLAINT OF 2

BAILED,

Ressdence ... ... ... . .
— _ L (7
Trted, / g
No. 2, by.....
Rescdence .. Magistrate,

Oflicer.

Nd 38, by,
Precinet,
Refide'lu‘«' . B . . Street. C_T/
_— Witnneon $EL L E/ (725 zy/

No. 4, Dy oo . . .. No. j é é' / /‘/é/{4 ... Strect.

/

”;m Emai- s 3%
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Lo answer?




@onrt of Generid Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK /
against g

x —

T /

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by_this incliptm@nt.accuse
— P e S S —_—

of the CriMe or BIGAMY, committed as follows :

The said k&\‘;\,\_ ’X‘M, .

late of the City of New York, in the County of New .YOljk aforesaid, on thewn&
day of %m) Ja t.he year of our Tord one thousand eight hundred and
e SO - e af the Tl e SISO, L Sl s .
did marry one mmo\gA‘&t k—cs\'\/\-a‘v-— . and >\\SJ\_,. the said
Mo\.{""‘x“ = M v T did then and there have for

Pt e ne ; and the said . 'M S . T
afterwards, to wit: on the\l<;~n-‘\-\<\.'—:-."§<~ day of ‘_\Mo\_»\.\' in the year of
our Lord omne thousand _ei'ght hund}'ed 11'1-1«;1 11in§t3'— > o > at the City and County
of New York aforesaid, did teloniously marry and take as e M_, one
and to the said
and there married, the said
then living and in full life,

against the form of the statute in sueh case made and provided, and against the peace of the

People of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Aétorney.




Police Court.

CITY AND COUNT'Y ), .
OF NEW FORK, = %

S REE......

. L -
OCCUPALLON ... L Aot B

o the

in the County of Stew Hork,

he was violently ASSAULTED and BEATEN 71.

withowt any justification on the part of the said assailart.

Wherefore thi's deponent prays that the said assailont may e apprekended and bound to answer

the abeve assawll, &o., and be decli with according to law.

Shvorn to befifee me, this....... /// .




ot of Genevanl Sessions of the Leace

O THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

agdairst

C . )
Al (et J(LCL_(_P

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New Yorlk, by this indictment accuse

<)<}:_.(_4,~( '.,- )<UC(/L< A

of the Crimz oF ASSAULT IN THE THIRD DEGREE, committed as follows :

The said . : JCZ(,( A ‘ k></0C/(_,L.(.P

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the ~CCr ot e <

ANpe .
day of T Il e Fioe in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

ninety- . Ceernd . » at the City and County aforesaid, in and upon the body of one

‘ //CT,zcc' >(€'L(d‘ in the peace of the said People then and there being, with force
a,nd\aurms, unlawfully did make an assault, and ~Aa. < the said /?L_.(-Lu{/' X ey
did then and there unlawfully beat, wound and illtreat, against the form of the étatute in such case

made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Atiorney.




502

FOLDER:
4577

DESCRIPTION:

Lawler, Patrick J.

DATE:

11/21/92

T
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Gowrt of General Sessions of the Beace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tae PEOPLE OF THE STATE or Nuw YozRER,
against
{

’
i

- _~</)c£/—(;§;<_(* gf%‘ AQ<.,§L_¢@_:A@J_Z_,..__._ -'>

The Grand Jury of the City and County of

- Cf/j(.‘(. Crne & L, /z X tarCon /

New York, by this indietment, accuse

QUORS, WINES, ALE AND

{
of the CriME or SELLING STRONG AND SPIRITUOUS LIQ
BEER ON SUNDAY, committed as follows :

C/(/C, Eroa ﬁz//'/(z, ":'~X()\':A < (0_ “

The said

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the T IND LA

&7 *Q,/( Legan Coen/ . in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and
> at the City and County aforesaid, the same being Sunday, certain strong
One gill of wine, one gill of brandy, one gill

day of~
ninety- ~{{ro

and spirituous liguors, wines, ale and beer, to wit:
one gill of cordial, one gill of bitters, one gill of ale,

of rum, one gill of gin, one gill of whiskey,
and one gill of a certain strong and spirvitu-

one gill of porter, one gill of beer, one gill of lager beer,
ous ligquor to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, unlawtully did sell, to—ome

amd~ to certain otlrer persons whose names are to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown. against
the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the pence of the People of

New York and their dignity.

SECOND COUNT—

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said

— . 2 -
- - )C’/ Qa% ,Q(W/U./ T e el
of the CriME or OFrrFERING A/%D %xrosmc; FOR SALE ON SUNDAY STRONG AND SPIRITUOUS Liquons,

WiNES, ALE AND BEER, committed as follows:

The said ._____ L/)CC/O\_,L,@,‘Q/(_/ ; O<3w(2/</

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year aforesaid, the

same being Sunday, certain strong and spirituous liquors, wines, ale and beer, to wit: Omne gill of
wine, one gill of brandy, one gill of rum, on
gill of bitters, one gill of ale, one gill of porter, one gill of beer, one gill of 1
a certain strong and spirituous liquor to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, unl

e gill .of gin, one gill of whiskey, one gill of cordial, one
ager beer, and one gill of
awfully did offer and

expose for sale to one

S~ s
— R~ o e
and to certain other persons whose names are to the Gﬁg((fkﬁ;?/a,foresaid unknown, against the

form of the statute in such case made andl provided, and against the peace of the People of the State

of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL

District Attorney.
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-~

Balice Eourt, - AEistrict,

ot
D

STATE OF NEW YORK. o
Ss:
CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK,

e
of No.. ‘/// _ /&44/ c/o}—'

R Qtrj}tfi zud y, being duly sworn,
deposes and says, that a certain_gZemale child called.

—

now present], under the age $f sixteen years, to wit, of the age of years, is a

necessary and material witness on behalf of the People of the State of New York in a certain

criminal case now pending in the Court of /%'fssions of, in and for the City and

»of New Yorl, entitled, The People against . . JZmdT7 5.
I g

, wherein the said_ . / 2

.is charged with the crime of . {77 = , under

and that the said -2 o T EBTAR
will, as deponent verily believes, unless duly held to appear oy trial thereof, avoid giving his
testimony at the instance of the people. /

Wherefore, deponent prays that the said child

may be held as a witness to appear on the trial of the aforesaid criminal case, and be committed

temporarily to an institution authorized by law to receive children on final commitment, and to

have compensation therefor from the City or County authorities, as a witness, to appear on the
trial of the aforesaid criminal case, in pursuance of the statutes in such case made and provided
and especially of Section 291 of the Penal Code of the State of New York.

~
Stooriz Lo befoye 12e L/leds / qf //
day of. L L0 Uttt T S

GPolice Fustice.
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THE PI*..O’DLE
ON THE COMPLAINT OF

AFFIDAVIT.

789 2o
Magistiate,

_Oficer.

STYLES & CASH. STEAM BRINTEHS, 77 EIGHTH AVENUE. NEW YORK.




THE PEOPLE, &c.,

ON COMPLAINT OF

'g - %@x_,‘_,\__g

>Examination of Surety. A

=L Y

duly sworn as to his sufficiency as bail for

-in the above entitled proceedings, says in answer to the

following questions, as follows :

Questiore.  What is your name ?
~Answer. CY&/M % . @%W—MA_

Question. Where do you reside ?

A nswer. WQT /@/g

Question. What is your business ?

3]
_Aseswer. W’L’ .

Do you own any Real Estate,- -if s0, where situated, and of what does it consist ?

Question

wseire I gt e o B pars G C B

=
At T St Eee S ag

QQuestion.  Where did you purchase, of whom, and what did you pay?

Are there any mortgages upon the same—-and if so. to what amount ?

G

Qreestior.

diesiese.
Question.  When are they due ?
~laesieer.
Question. Is ithe property in your own name alone ?
~Answer. L///{ N

L ]
Qeeestivse.  1s the Deed or Deeds on record ?

Musier. it e g W s Lo Al TS,

Are you surety for anyone else,——and if 50, to what amount, and for what ?

TSIYY ‘D 04009 04 wdgagy

(Qecestion.

~Answer. //ﬂ_ o -

Qeuestion. Do you owe any money,—and if so, how much ?
_Aaswer, ?L,O .
Question. Are there any judgments against you ?

_Adrswer. Q g .

Are there any proceedings in foreclosure now pending against you ?

27 0
Gode ko PE s

Question.

Areswer.




. M T . =
S L L e . . s

CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK, }SS

/ Street, being duly sworn, dep@ses and
Ve Q /
says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of Z AN S A ;

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own,

knowledge.

Szeorn z‘o/be/o;'e s12e, s g
day of. Wk/é/ 289




et

STATE OF NEW YORK, ss.,
CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK, (

of umber =2 v .- —Fe . ... .being
é }I / M%/L/ 6&4 . - P
deposes@nd says, that on the .. A2 s T day of . . =& e e
City of Ne

\w in the County of New Yorl,. - (:?/ % %Mfﬂﬂ
. -~

duly sw .
r’i y orn
. ISZZat the

ozf@ /?/ //%

ZEo : AR %w”// S - i

/I/[_/(‘ 0@&/ = // f/ %ﬂf ZW T %{ REs 7/2/7/*7‘—6‘//«%
. P g 2V A2 A /W./&MWM /

= Rl // il T iy Dot s /

e Lﬂ// %m/

/qé///a L ///_

[ et e e
LE R e 2, /2//%—
[

Wi hrevefore the com plain

ant prays th/a/r/?hr:: saidd,

may be apprehended,

Stvos7: fo before e, thzs

ey q/’%mt/é/

LFolice Fustzre.




0 fivp

Y7 U 24049q UIYNT,

gy

. District Police Court.

Scee. 198—200.

CcIiTY COUNTY }
O V YORK, {58

7 L pa 7 '
ﬂp//zgf/&_, being duly examined before the wunder-

signed according $o law, on the annex:d charge; and being informed that it is h e——7sight to
make o statement in relation to the charge against  le———7; that the statement is designed to
enable h  =— if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h

that The 1s at liberty to waive malking a statement, and that h waiver cannot be used

against h — on the trial.

o
. - , ~
Question. at is your name ?

Answcr.//%'z ’ Z/ CM&ZM & ﬁ_,/

Question. IIO\\‘ o]<1 are you ¢

Answer. 7 & HK—

Question. 7'] cre were Yot born ¢ Z _
g
Answer. % o /é 2 é{

Question. IWhere do you live, ynd how long have you resided there ?
S ol Dy D s
- cod g ! - [ ”
Answer. =~ /él (4 S &’g//_/ ISy - : e/

P

Questiorn. YWhat is v 01/1/]111%111()%5 or profession ¢

Amnswer. / - @L/é,

Qrestion. GHive any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the J
testimony against you, and state any facts which you thinlks will tend to your

exculpation ¢

s e A 4 .
*-;?//J'C/, SN D e e N D B




Y on
. Al
Beec. 151, ¢

v

) . Police Court. District.
CITY AND COUNTY ZIn the name of the People of the State of New York; To the Sheriff of the County

OF NEW YORK, S8 of New York, or to any Marshal or Policeman of'the City of New York, GREETING :
Whereas, Complaint in writing, and pPox’cath, has been ntad

}Z%Zunadefigned, one of the Fulice

x%t the City of New York, in the County of N

s _ Z

fefore, th

rayed that the Defendant
answer the said complaint.

may be apprehended and beur

These are Therefore, in the name of the PEOPLE of the Srate of New York. to command you
SherifF, Marshals and _Pol'fcc:ng, Q‘each and every of you, to apprehend the said Defendant

and bring
- DISTRICT POLICE COUR'T, in the said Ciry,
or inability to act, before the n

or in case of my

absence
st or mest accessible Police Justice in this City, to answer the said char

ge, and to
be dealt with according to law.

Dated at the City of New York, thi




The within named

RTINS having been brought before me under thiy Wara

o

nt, is committed for examination to the

WARDEN and KEEPER of the City Prison of the G v of New York.

e o o ” Police Justice.
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Sec. IQiZ < 0/
Police Court.

CITY AND COUNTY ) .
OF NEW YORK, )

An information having been Iaid before. - & Police

Justice of the City of New York, ch: Defendant
s

an examination of sajd charge, and it ha ing been

amination should be adjourned to some other

Laving been brought before said Justice for

made to appear to the satisfaction of said Justice that said ex

and the hearing thereof having been adjourned,
\VE,//%/’/«./ /:LW > Defendant of No.
T Street, by occupation a (Lo
and of Ne:w-.. . .~
- Surety, hereby jointly and severally under-

Defendant shall personally

day,

appear before the said Justice, at the District Police Court in the City of New York, during

the said examination, or that we will pay to the People of the St%
Hundred Dollars. P >

Taken and wclknowle, lged before me thi;

dag of:-...




1t appearing to me by the rwisivir, depositions and Statements that the erime therein,

-
‘e is sufficient cawse to belicve the witivin recened

mentioned heas been
committed, and that tl.er

/5 I order tlhat lre be TNeld to ansuer the samoe, cand e be admittec 10 bail in the sumn of
—— o
ndred Dollers,

0L e cormmiptécd to ¢, Warden ard Keeper of
af .

L/Zh(,z City Prison of the City of Ngw York, rentil

D(gﬂz'ﬂ, - f /

18y

ee Jiestice.

I lvave cadmitted tie above-named, ..

to bail to arnswer by the wrder

taliing leretd
Datedf - / :

Tlvere being no sufjicient cawse to belicve the 1within name

to be discharged.

Dated,

Police Justice.




%
-~ - .
N ) ’ |
8
' - v
. .-
E _ e
..
“@ .
EREORN .
=

ULl
District.

oP 2, &c.,
ON TIIE CO_\}" AINT OF
FPA A I

BAILED,




2018

COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OFF THE PEACE OF THE CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORIK.
Tur Prorni of THE Srarhi oF NEW YOIK,.

against
&

LW,__,,\& &—-‘-’\ PR S P T

THE GRAND JURY OF THE CITY AND COUXNTY OF NEW YORK, by this
indictment, accuse _.M,\,\,( i P
of the Crimk or RAPE IN THE SECOXD DEGREE, committed
as follows :

The =said 'S-«,N,,A,\&k G Y N s w
late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the =< “\)\\);\%:\J
day of > N S . . in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and
ninety- X,“_,__Q , at the City and County aforesaid, in and upon a certain female not his
wife, to wit: one X/\r——\x QKR( 5\':\% . feloniously did make an assault,
she the said XN-——\»\& SR T e being then and there a female under the
age of sixteen years, to wit: of the age of %W/ years ; and the
&\M/S_\,:..m,\&ﬁi S tlien and there (under circumstances
not amounting to rape in the Hrst degree), feloniously did perpetrate an act of sexual intercourse
with her the said \\"\'\g SR R m v, ————

against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the

said

People of the State of New York and their dignity.

SECOND COUNT—
AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictinent, further
nccuse the sald T~ orme e o TRy o e e S

of the CriME oF ABDUCTION, committed as follows:

The said .S\W "% i e > D o S

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: oun the day and in the year aforesaid, at the

City and County aforesaid, did feloniously take, receive, harbor, employ and use her, the said

MA Q\ﬁ—§\¢\&_‘ » so being then and there a female under

the age of sixteen years, to wit: of the age of - NX-\K‘”M years, as aforesaid,

for the purpose of sexual intercourse, he, the said "~ o B

not being then and there the husband of the said X\*r ~e<l Q‘%’*—X S -

against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People
of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney
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Lalice Gowrt,

STATE OF NEW YORK. L .
CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK, |

//

_ Street, ~bhoing duly sworn,
( //

.,Ze/«‘/ years, 1s a

necessary and material witness on behalf of the People of the Stdte New York in a certain
criminal case now pending in the Court of / »ssions of, in apd - the City and
County of New York, entitled, The People against C/ AP Nt

, wherein the said

_is charged with the crime of. /{MZ4//4W ey under

and that the said, S

will, as deponent verily believes, un]ess du]) h(,ld to appear on trial thercof, avoid giving
testimony at the instance of the people.

Wherefore, deponent prays that the said child. & &"’/(

may be held as a witness to appear on the trial of the aforesaid criminal case, and be committed
temporarily to an institution authorized by law to receive children on final commitment, and to
have compensation therefor from the City or County authorities, as a witness, to appear on the
trial of the aforesaid criminal case, in pursuance of the statutes in such case made and provided,

and especially of Section 291 of the Pen'Ll Code of the State of New York

7 /
St Lo before e this / Y c /_/ M

Ay of  JLLLrUAlr et

Bolice Fustice.




WITNESS.

189 2,

_j)/zs[%ﬂmn w‘m .

BTYLES & CASH, STEAM PHRINIGRS, 77 EIGHTH AVERUE, NEW




yZ 4

%nlme Cowrt, =T District.
L s
.

STATE OF NEW YOR
CITY AND COUNTY OF \TEVV YORK,

of No.. /// éj‘ ; % gtreé..br said Cj being duly sworn,

deposes and says, that a certaiu‘ <-male child called.. Q_~ 7}2
/,
[now present], under the age’of sinteen years : years, is a

s, to wit, of the age of.
necessary and material witness o op bﬁl}é/of the Peo%]t/"%)f the %ﬁzﬁ’e of New York in a certain
-
criminal case now p(,nclmo in the Court-of ,Sessiemy{, in and for the City and

, under

Section.. °% Y —of the Penal Code of said State, in that he, the said . /é!/t‘/gr_

L L S /ﬂW/:W

is charged with the crime of._

» unless duly held to appear on trial thereof avmd giving his

testnnony at the instance of the people. //Z

Wherefore, deponent prays that the said child

may be held as a thness to appear on the trial of the '1forc5'ud cr
eceive children on final commitment, and to

iminal case, and be committed

temporarily to an 1nstltutxon authorized by law to r
or County authorities, as a witness, to appear on the

have compensation therefor from the City
tes in such case made and provided,

trial of the aforesaid criminal case, in pursuance of the statu

and especially of Section 291 of the Penal Code of the State of New York.




POLICE COURT

THE PEOPLE, &c.
ON THE COMPLAINT OF




oo

CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK,

Ss.

aged... /-/ ................... vears, occupation

J°

says, that /he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of ¥

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own.

knowledge.




STATE OF NEW YORK,
CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.{

/OM ‘j"-)} < T being duly sworn.
g™ /{ é«’/&f.«.& @«G/QKM ﬁ:/e//n&,/-c 7-5:'-.?/7“'
deposes&md says, Lh"LL on the . .. & T day of . /%'Mq. BN 18/,z,at the

City of New York, in the. 9unty of New York.,
/W- e /é - 2 VBt A, 2 M/D / /’l/@/—/ﬂ g2
' /%/xw/ A W&/f cRL A
vt 2z L ?/% R - /’?Aﬁc/

Tl Nrevefore the complainant pra}'s)tl?ué2 said e
may be apprehended, arrested and dealt with accordin;‘,,to/ law.

Sewor Lo before e, tirs /7/ ] Q/% o
day of : e -

N .
Lolice~Fustice.




THE PEOPLE, &c,

ON THE COMPLAINT OF
Gt Gy o UALAA
P

4%

s

ON\_ 77 2y

CRUELTY TO CHILDREN.

i

AMaygistrate.
L Clerte.
O ficer

Witnesses :

& Geltncs %@77%#}70’, Eieyet..

SO0 Crol 23 SZrced.

Disposition,

BTYLEC & CASM, STEAM PRINTERS, 77 EIGHTH AVEHUE. NEW YORK.

~D>




District Police Court.

See. 198—1200.

.

CITY AN 4 ss. . e

.................................................... c@g@ng Aduly examined before the under-
signed according to ,léw, on the- annexod charge; and being informed that it is I—Tight to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h-——7that the stutement is designed to
enable I e if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against Pe—
that  he is at liberty to waive maling a statement, and that T  waiver cannot be used

e

against h on the trial.

Queestion. What is your name ¢
Answer.

Question. I-f%w 2::1/ are you !
Answer. Cf\\_/, / ty éﬁﬂm

Question. ‘y\"'h/e-?'o were yoiLpor
’ e

Awnswer. / /;/ﬁ ‘ //4

Qreestion. IWhere do you live, and how long have y%u/]'esided there 7 7
/ - 7 2 7 1=

e . T s ey

A')zswm}s// / g §/ A4 \\Z/ < 4,//’/;/// A g

///{/ /”’7‘%

Qurestion. What is your business or profession ¢
AP

Answer.
Qreestion.  {rive any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in  the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

exculpation ?

Answer. -
7

////)77.//@

7 .
%’j?‘%@ o

99 UIYNY

207,




Sec. 151. - ‘ Police Court___ istrict.

. —_— T TR
CITY AND COUNTY Zn the name of the Leople of the Stote of New York,; 7o the SheriffF of the County
OF NEW YORK, S5 of New York, or to any Marshal or Loliceman of the Uity of New York, GREETING :

Whereas, Complaint in writing, and dj oath, has been made

Justices for the City

of No. / 2. = e e oo StTeet, that on the.

x%at the City of New York, in the County of New York,

answer the said complaint.

These are Therefore, in the name of the PEOPLE of the State of New York, to command you
Sheriff, Murshals and Policeme » agd’ each and every of You, to apprehend the said Defendant and bring-
forthwith before me, at the__ é e DISTRICT POLICE COURT, in the said City, or in case of my absence
or inability to act, before the n Arest or mest accessible Police Justice in this City, to answer the said charge, and to

be dealt with according to law.

Povrice Jusrtick,




R - - ,.— . The within named

"— having been brought before me under this W

o)

b Is committed for examination to the
; B SR WARDEN and KEEPER of the City Prison of the City of New York, o

q
Lo et Police Justice.
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements thet the cri/rna/l;ﬁc/
7

L order that he De held to ansier the same, and  he be admitted Lo Dail in the swn of

Tewndred Dollars,  Som . ... - 1l De connniétc’&l to the Wardern and Keeper of

/s

e Cit}_/ J/,’réson, of th?e City of New Forlk, terntil e Live such}g " ad #
Dated, . i -

Parl;ioe‘/Jzostice.

There being no swfficient cause to believe the withirn TRQTILOCh .o

Suwilty of tlhe offernsc rcithin mentioned, I order 7 to be dischorgded.

Police Justice.




BAILED,
Neo. 1,

Restdenck

No. 2, by

Residence

creeeneen.Officer.

e L Precinet.




CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK, ™

An information having been Inid before ... .

Justice of the City of New York, charging ’/’L
) 7

ang having been brought before said Justice for an examination of sair charge, and it Laving been

made to appear to the satisfaction of said Justice that said examination should be adjourned to some other
day, and the hegounrr thereof having been adjourned,
_/

Defendant of No. ..
Street, by occupation a
-.and of Nuo.. ”
Surety, hereby jointly and severally under-

R Defendant shall personally

appear before the said Justice, at the District Police Court in the City of New YorL

the said examination, or that we will Pay to the People of the State of New York the sum of...

Hundred Dollars.

Taken and acknowlej[ged before me this




Gounty of Aew WHork, 88

the within-numed Bail and Surety, being duly sworn, says, that he is a resident and
A ThA L s Vi, !
holder within the said Couwty—md Stute,/\uud is worth Iundred Dollars,

2\ aLofpq 0 wiong

exclusive of property exempt from execution, and over and above the amount of all his debts and liabilities,

s

*20FVUPDXG] Y]
dd buayoleopi

_Justice.

-
-
3
O

o
-4

2

©

|-

-
O

=

+

8

THE COMPLAINT OF

_THE PEOPLE, &c,




Gonrt of General Sessions of the Lrace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THEE PrOPLE oF THE STATE oF NEW YORK

adalrLst

The Grand Jury of the City and County of Nevw Yorik, by this indictment, accuse

- — M &—Wm RS

of the CrIME oF ABDUCTION, committed as follows :

- .

The said /._k\tb\m‘.\.\& ’gé._b_'\m. R, T

»

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on th&f@@l
day of ‘mw , In the year of our Xord one thousand eight hundred and

ninety- m ,» at the City and County aforesaid, did feloniously take, receive, harbor,

employ and use one %\,—\_\( Q\JQSS\\—R_, 5 who was then and there a female
under the age of sixteen years, to wit: of the age ofﬁ@%m years, for the purpose of
sexual intercourse, he, the said M%N'\Y‘\w =— not being then and there
the husband of the said x(\,__, ~~<_ Q&—;?\\ﬁv 5 against the form of the

statute in suclhh case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of

New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District ditorney.
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502

FOLDER:
4577

DESCRIPTION:

Lawrence, John

DATE:
11/14/92

AP

4577




BOX:
502

FOLDER:
4577

DESCRIPTION:

Cogin, Thomas

DATE:

11/14/92

I
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CITY AND COUNTY
- OF NEW YORK.

/L/M//ﬁf//é) L7t e z,/’,
//_//\/k //—tuzé%‘
Q 7/2{%*' zz .
7 £, m//é‘

A Zé < ~ 7 j{é LAl {%
/ég% /(://( Z

7z A /%//%%M"‘Z/Znyhz% &(A%
%\7 }\—/ /f/(’ 0 /7"/4/\ 4&{% Zﬁ/é{é/&zfy . |

_EL ﬂ“/\ a{,




Police Court— District.

CITY AND COUNIL'Y |
QOF NI W YORK, o -

—

{ /Qﬂﬂ{//ﬂj « =4 W/// =

of 13&/4Z(/</£/ 7 ﬁ?//é/m/ifm Strcet, ~Lyged /7 . Years

e - oL
é v ey ‘)TL’C/CW &/8?_2 ot the T Ward of the (ty of New York,
%
in the County of New York, avws felonionsly taken, stolei, cud corricd away. From the person of de-

ponent by Force and ciolence, withoul lis consent and cogperinst lis il the yollowing property, odz

"

(A cviodadl. cained. . oo oe

D e e —

L2 L LA TS

and Uhat this deppoiicnt Jias a probelde coause (o suspeet, and does suspect. teal the soaid giraperty was

relonionsly tiken, stolen, cnd carsicd aray. by Force and ciolenee s aforesaid by

a
:
N
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o ansieer General Sessions,

on the complaint of

THE PEOPLE, .,

Witnesses,

Police Court, _____ Distyict,




District Police Court.

See. 198—200.

1 AND COU"\TTX [ -
NE s

(S
/ being duly examined before the under-
sxgncd accoxdng lnw on the annexed charge, and bc:ing}informcd that it is h ' right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h€e ; that the statement is C]CSIC“I'lCd to

enable hitee  if The sces fit, to answer the charge and cxplain the facts alleged against h.£e, 5
to waive making a statement, and that h<.5 waiver cannot be used

that he is at liberty
against h £z, > on the trial.

Question. W is your name ?
Ansever.
Questfon. Afow old are you?

vsier. 2D e

Question. un_ were you born ?
“lnszoer. W W /<

Question. \\’]u_n* do you live and how long have you resided thaere?

Arszver, é’ Q //)/(‘ //{/ J//&(/ E/);?"C/,LM‘&

Question. What is your business or profession #

Arnsecocr. /&/ W M,.//

Question.  Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testimony

against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your cxculpation.

Q
Anszver. \\7—&'\/ T

A AT




IS1f; angog

1,

681

e

District Police Court.

being duly examined before the under-
agfiexed charge. and being informed that it is h 4 right to

. - . ’ . -
make a statement in rclation to the charge against b« _; that the statement is designed to
enable ht._ if he sces fit, to auswer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h-C— ¢
that he is at liberty to walve making a statement, and that h £.5, waiver cannot be used

against h <4« "~ on the trial.

Question. What j

Auswer.

Question. How old are you ?

A nsever. cQ \8 . j/ L &(,A/(/

Question.  Where were you born ?

&
A rnszeoer. /QZ/(/I J % T / (_,/

Question.  Where do you%nd how long have you resided there ?
7 A . e
A nswwer. é _?// A( 2 7 77 & = W{_ = /?/:/ & -t A2

Questivn.  What is your business or profession ?
A\

“29 - :
A nstecr. / /{ £7 (D/é & M@(,/,y SR L T A /

:/_/)

P
CQuestion.  Give any explanation you léay think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testimony

against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your exculipation.

. "/"j’

] gy - - ~ G -
A sstver. > e A B Z S S

&

v




guilty (. I order :} , 7 Z]/Lc scme, un
Z . { o ,
. 7z wnired Dollars,. =

d Llreqgbe admittied to Lail i the suum of

and be comnitied to the Warden and Keeper of

the City Frison of the City of MNew: 1urk, wntil ghq, give such bail]
Z . ) ) -

189 _S—

I have have admitted the above-named.

to bail to answer by the wndertalking liereto annexed.

Dated, ... . 189

There being no swufjicient cawse to believe the within named.

L Pr.;lica Jistice.

Police Justice.

Zuilty of the offense within mentioned, I order 7t to be discharged.

Police Justice.




Zo2_ .
Pohce Court ( / District. '

l I PEOPL

ON THE_ _(COMIPLA T OF

//Iz(///g/

P A. >

_/(/’M/r’ A2 (_O /7 &54/

BAILED,

Residence...

Duted, /;Z”?/{’”ZK;/I/ BT et

Ne. 2,0y
¥

RESULENCE caenn e oo Strect,

Magistrate.

. t/)l/ei ’D/C "'4(?1&(:1'.
No. b by .

Y4
Ve i
recei 3
Hesidence Stredd. . ’recincet,

A, .y

Witnesse,
No. 4, by .
’ No. s - - )ZSLI‘(:CL
Lesidence . Street.

y
LT Sreet.

. Strecet.




@ourt of General Sessions of the Peace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Toe PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK

against
\

\8\M~ "’é».w_b\.,ﬁa_ E.
PSS TR

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New Youxlk, Uy this indictment, accuse

%,\__, ’SAQ\. ~ PRI SN g“;\_hz«-— ——n %%

of the CrRiME oF ROBBERY in the N\&) degree, committed as follows :

The said &\@_\w "gé_m_.f-go,\,.-.-_u.._ — T AN T

14
late of the Citv of New York. in the County of New York afovesaid, on the @IA}M.-
day of T Do y In the year of our Lord one thousand eight huundred and
ninety- = L thne-ofthesaid—das, at the City and County aforesaid,
with force and arms. in and UPON ONe 7T D e o e N, €, P , T

in the peace of the said People then and there being, feloniously did make an assault; and

— = QS
PRI, Xy, NS 53\,_\ ,M\,_ PRI, N <>\$\ —— - T DD

R U . . .
e = o - @l ~ e D—
T T e R

e N
B s I C U NN o o S
. >

~
=52 P D N [ )\\f

- & (A}‘\_NM. @/\.‘:./Cc)\_- > P R \\ M._’,

N > PRSI B W e
Xi' e D D , .
©of the goods, chattels and personal property of the said TS . TS e

from the person of the said PoNP-- SR %QMA;MW, against the will
and by violence to the person of the saldf D mrr o . T SO e

then and there violently and feloniously did rob, steal, take and carry away, = el B

R Ry Do, Pone a e ST el S

o;_-\_bg.__b\_ M T ——— P N &‘w—'\>\~\_—{__&, e:\./cx.\_*)~§~'\»\<
. N P T R el

against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the
People of the State of New York and their dignity.

~rs e e <o . ¥

S

Vs




502

FOLDER:
4577

DESCRIPTION:

Laws, Bertha

DATE:

11/15/92

AN

4577
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SIL 9090

Answer.

Sce. 198800 < Iistriet Police Court.
CITY .
. OF

- ’
___________ - ey 28 7. . .being duly examined before the under-
signed a.cco/rdi g to law, on the anne \wl ch Jg\; .Lud bcm“ in‘forme(l that it is ]'L/Mi“h.t to
make a stitement in relation to the char ‘oainst g1 =t the gtatement is designed to
enable h WL he see fit to answer the charge and e\p].un the facts alleged against
that he at liberty to waive making a statement, and that I ‘./‘VJJVEL cannot be usecd
against h—‘w—-on the trial.

{
4
y . ,
Question. agne ¢ /b . "
_Answer. S —— C m/ 2 R
_Question. How old aye I R
Answer. L —2C 2 —b .
Question. .
Answer.
Question. 10w long have y(‘))&\reside(l there ? A
Mﬁj’z,/; P
- 7

Answer. / i@ - — __,,.//j/ MZ T
Qrestion. * business or profession 7

Qrestion.  ive any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony _geninst yon, and state any facts which you thinlk will tend to your
exculpati 1/1¢

=2 * <
Answer./ /

B S

e

. . e //7/&%_,

j@v

—

x_,g~\<;v/v
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SV 9 940,009 UM,

2 District Police Court.

See. 198—200.

-
CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK, 85.

Y e Az o duly examined before the under-
Signed according to law, on the annexed charge ; and being informed that it is h o right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h ; that the statement is designed to
enable hpe i he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h (=
that he is at liberty to waive malking a statement, and that I ==, waiver cannot be usec

against h _e&" on the trial.

Question. What is your nau

_Answer.

Question. How old are you ¢

- Answer. Z %/Zé_/é,/_,———c

Question. Where were vou born ?

Answer. ,Mzz

Qurestion. Where do you live, and hiow long have you resided there ?

Answer. Z ,Z 5—\%/\—'{M/4/ P AR k‘m

Qurestion.  What is your business or profession ?

Answer. M¥ /4%/7/—\

Qrestion.  Give any explanation yon may think propoer of the cireumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any fncts which you think will tend to your

exculpation ¢

i P M

//K// S T
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District,

Police Com't-‘

BORISTU OO e s e prazruag
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P aq /4 z VA ! PY7 Y 47 . 72!
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paind

PRXINUD 0727 LrUIYD]LpUN YR [l L2 SUD 07 711 02
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’ WDQ YINS 2L DY GIaUN CYLOL WDAT SO 710 077 fo UOSILT
7370 oYp SO (dPOS PUD UIPILVAL DYT O) PIJYIUULOD A 2 CSLDYPOCT PILLUALT -
LO WS 9Yp wp 310Q 07 BayN )

T T T PRMEDU U Y JR00 DY) 90D OF DETXDD JUSIIYFRSISL DAOUYD JIYT] DU pPOIIIetod
UBSQ SVY POUOIJUTUL UFDUHYT DWLLD DYT LY SJUIULLIDIS QUL $ULOIIISOLIP 10277108 274) Foq Dt 0) Lee svodels 1T

%
.. Magistrate.
e SeSS1ODS

ON THE COMPLAINT OF
to answer

~

THE PEOPLE &e.,

Witnesses,

No.




s N T . - : : S .- . ) s

e 1within, Aepositions and statements that the or

order that e be held to  ansier the same, and he be admitted o bail in

Thendred Dollers, . R . Nxres
the City Prisdn yf the City, of Neww Yori, wntil he Give s

Dated g"’)/ 289 «‘2‘-— :

I have admitted the hove-nanLed.. .

to bail to arswer Oy the wendertaleing larefeo @iereeiedd.

Datecd, oo 189

There heing no stfficient couse to belicre the within named. &, .

AT ordls

e Gty of the offernse 10idinijy meriii

the swrn of

gren and Keeper of

LPolice Jwestice.




IE PEOPLL

ON THE COMPLAINT O
& PR

No. 2, by

Reesédence ... . . ST " Street.

i oy o
s

f/“)‘w%_()ﬂiccr.
Do. B, byl : - 7
T : ] = . ‘\-‘L T Precine

Residence. Street.

No. 4.

ReSTACNCE ... e e & Street.




~

PO
. o

e

Zthin depositions and statements that the crfé

I appearing to me by the 1w
believe the within ramed ...

comanitted, arnd that tlhere is swfficient cawse to

L~
gzqity_/t\ Yeereof, I order that lee e held to ansier e
SN
) ﬂ TV arxl and Keeper of

__g-_,/ ﬂ AT e d, Dollers, .
the City Pri it ,0f
el LT 3 .. Police Jwestice.

Dated,

4N JFolice Justice.

/ S / / S
Dated Q ! G . .. I . i Y

F—

2 within named..._.

There //euz /o/q‘fﬁ‘z nt carese to heliere the
Mﬁj /V!/‘? Luilty of tie opferse i

Dated,




BATLED,
No. 1, 34

No. :/ A
Residence .. I ’

Vzss

- . . /', //-—'
v ————— B \Vilncss(#‘ﬁ/'/(’%’g%‘/?;jw
oo g, my - S . / < 7
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P

y Clarles F. Thayer, [§

STAaTe Srrenr

United States-of America.

S R . @nmmnnmaltﬁ of }“ﬁaﬁaﬂmﬁgtta. —_—
- M,;’. A - “‘ B X

—_— e —— .

] D25 co = o A LK S
County oF Surrork, E ss _,/_.&h-q,,_.h.h._ — - = e

Crry or Bosto ; e
O t/’zib&%u% %/ day of W’n the year of owr

Lord one thowsand eitght hundred and ninely-two I, Charles F. Thayer, Notary Public,
by larwwfeel atwtleority commiissioned and el walified for scic Cowrty, «t the
.

reqieest of the Cashier of the Natiornal g ;42/. P Barele,
Bostore, wernt with the ori_g‘inw%zich 2 0 qrnexed, e time

Vi
Zizzited and
-~

grace having elapsed, and demanded pa,ynbenta/V ec/ce«%

’79‘\‘ '-’// _%%W’&%ﬁﬂ‘w%@ M%?///% —
Th%%\ remevining unpaid, I have officially notified the - - W, ——— :
L «  —— of the saiil defalt, WY written notice sentp«o/by Wl prepaid,
S addressed under cover to O Z / g_%-'—\\
L )

(. &
in each notice requiring paymnient.

o dvm@lz’erq]fare, Z, the .;a;—(;", Noédr‘z'/, by ?ei'quest as aforesaid, have Protested, and by
these Presents do solemnly LPROTEST, against the drawer of said T
Endorsers, and all others concerned therein, for Exchange, Re-Exchange, and all

Costs, Chardes, Damades, and Intereost swffered and
sustaired, or to be suffered and sustained, by reasonr
or in consequerce of th

Fees, } z . o

Postage,
. oL

Expenses,
. Charges, $ 2 . d.‘z
— - T -




NEW YoORK_. Q’y_,_f?i,_wlsg ,Z N°125L
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. 459 GRANYD STREET.
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| PAY TO THE ORDER OF Tl %/77 'YZ,&_ Az eers § J{L
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ez,
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459 GraND STREET.
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T'ar EAST SIDT BANh

459 GRAND STREET.
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oy Freer e F /7!;,/\ /c?/w '

DoOoLLARS

R, L. EPSTEIN,




o Spedo
For Beposit ‘
CHEMICAL NAT'L BANK,




CITY AND COUNTY )
OF NEW XORK,

of the

Street, by oc

S8,

that the above named

shall personally appear before the said Justice, at the

during the said e

Hundred Dollars.

unination, or that we will pay to tl

_PoLicr

Jusrice.

@

lindert .ll\lll"‘ to appeﬂxr'duumr the Emmmatmn.

a Police Justice

Defendant with

defendant of No...

Defendant

Police Court in the City of New York,

" York the sum of...s.../-—?’-.ﬁ




CITY AND QOUNTY }
OF NEW YORK, .
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Orn, says, that he i

ISP 90170
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«wwoddo 03 Lupywiepun

strict Police Court.
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Taken the ...
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Gourt of Geweral Sessions of the Leace
OF THE CITY AND COUXTY OFF NXEW YORK

THE PLOPLL OF THE Sl ATE orF NEw YORE

cgninst

P A

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

- < ) g
i "6/"1/&%4&“”; K AN

of the CrivME or FORGERY IN THE SECO\D DEGREE, committed as follows
The said k@(/l/é' 2 e o

/ SN s

late of tyity of New York, in the County of New Yorlk aforesaid, on the

day of -- é,/?/-'(x/(/«-ft///&(‘-/\/" Jin the year of our Lord one thousand ecight hundred and
ninety- A e , at the City and County aforesaid, with intent to defraud, feloniously dicd
forge a certain instrument and writing, which said forged instrument and writing is as follows, that

is to say :

— .
(Q‘.ZD)-(/‘ o ara C,(Z( 7 vl A AR s >

C'(‘//&"/‘G-‘ QQ //o)/""‘ T e [) ATty Z
& A &

"

/1,’7 (" ,_)
N Py /{9\0 A R S P S ./"\/ ~ At
;o B

7

S L e,

61//5 9/})/1(//’1,/ @{f/{‘/%e/ oy ,/ . <§Z/7~L w ot (2
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against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People

of the State of New York and their dignity.




SECOND COUN'T.

Jury aforesaid, by this indictment, further accuse the said
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of the Crive or FORGERY IN THE SECOND DEGRERL,

A

The said C%[)( S (—’/4 N e s

And the Grand

committed as follows :

wit: on the day and in the year aforesaid,

afterwards, to

late of the City and County aforesaid,
fraud, did feloniously utter, dispose of and punt

at the City and County aforesaid, with iutent to de
off as true, a cortain forged instrument and writing, which saicd forged instrument and writing is as

follows, that is to sy
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then and there well knowing the same to be forged
» and against the peace of the People of the State of

» against the form
of the statute in such case made and provided
New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney.




502

FOLDER:
4577

DESCRIPTION:

Leck, Rosanna

DATE:

11/22/92

N

4577




.Q\SQE.S&N

"TII AOAT V;

fiauonp g 9
"TTODIN RIONVT 8¢

\W&%\sesédéd |
I,
/

> ¥

%ﬁ«

[ropop vuadg ‘1 ‘ang ‘g3 uwonoeg]

p
il
y
g
0
.
H
0
z




POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE,
City and County of New York.

&******-‘i-x***%%***********’»’.-Z***

—against- A HON.RANDOLFPH B.MARTINE
ROSANNA LECK. __ and a Jurv.

*%ﬁ*-}(-**ﬁ******%**"»(%*'R’(-w********

TRIED, NEW YORK, JANUARY 26TH, 1893.

IR I IR R

INDICTED FOR ABDUCTION.

INDICTMENT FILED NOVEMBER 22ND, 13892.

o e W e Mo N W

I e

"ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY BARTOW S. WEEKS ,

For THE PEOPLE.

JACOB BERLINGER, ESQ.,

For THE DEFENSE.

W W N K KK ox N KXW




ALICE ROCHE, testified that she was the wife of William Roche,

and the mother of Ivy Roche, who was born in Buffalo,
July 4th, 1877. Dr. McNeil was the attending physician.
She identified Ivy Roche, in court, as her daushter above
referred to. She has lived in Wew York 3 years—---~since
July, 1890, She has lived at 51 Greenwich Avenue, from
there she went to 19th Street, and from there to 26 West

1%5th Street. She moved to the last mentionesd address in

the latter part of October of 1890, Sne knew the defen-

dant, Rosanna Leck. She first met her, in 13th Street,
in October 18%91. She was introduced to the defendant

by a woman riamed Jones, who lived in the same house, in
13th Street, near her, the witness. Mrs. Jones moved
from the house in the evening just before Decoration Day,
and on Decoration Day the defendant called to see Mrs.
Jones, and the witness told her that Mrs. Jones had moved
away Tfrom the house, The defendant stood at the wit-—
ness's door, talking, and the witness invited her into
her, the witness's, room, and she sat there for a little

while and then she left. The witness did not see the




defendant again for some monthse.
the witness moved to 20th Street

living, and there she met the de

ness remained at the 20th Street

and then moved to 25th Streets

a message from the defendant, in

witness allowed her daughtexr, Iv

defendant's house. This hapren

ber-~-beifore Christmas---1891.,

living in 29th Street, but the w

the numbher of the house, though

In February, 1892, the witness h

defendant, at the defendant's ho
and the defendant then asked the
remain with her, the defendant,

for a companion, to be with her

away and she could not be away,

and that she would give Ivy $2.

and clothes, and the witness con

with the defendant. During the

Celebration, the witness saw Ivy

own house. At that time Ivy wa

In September, 1891,

where Mrs. Jones was

>

fendant again. The wit-

house a couple of months,

i

She, the witness, received

consequence of which the

v Roehe, to go to the

ed in Novemher or Decem-—

The defendant was then

itness did not remember

she helieved it was 1310.

ad a conversation with the

use,110 29th Street,

witness to allow Ivy to

as she wanted her more

while her hushand was

as she claimed to be sick,
a week, and her board

sented to have Ivy remain
week before the Columbus
at her, the witness's,

s working, as a nurse,
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for a family named Stevens, in 125th Street. She next

saw Ivy in the care of The Society f'or the Prevention

of Cruelty teo Children, in thse Jefferson Market Police
Court. While Ivy remained in the employ of the defen-—
dant, her wages were paid to the witness, by the defendant

at the witness's own room. In
Cros

the witness testified that she now bhoards at 400 32nd
Street, and has lived there four weeks. She lives with
her husband with whom she is on perfectly good terms. He
is at present in the West. She has three children—---two
boys and Ivy, who is the voungeste. The witness fixes
the date of Ivy's birth, by the fact that it occurred
during the year after the Centennial, and also by the
death of her grandmother—*~Ivy's father's mother, who

was stricken with paralysis on the day on which Ivy was
born, and she died on the 6th. At that time the wit-
ness and her husband lived at Buffalo, and the grandmother
at Niagara Falls. Her youngest boy is 21 years of age
last August. He was born on the 8th of August, 1871,

and Dr. Stillwell attended the witness. Her third son
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was born on Octobor Gth, 1873, in the City of New York.

She did not keep records of the births of her chil-

dren, but relied on her memory of them. She never kept

a family

cord of births. She could not remember the number of

|

[

|

!

bible containing a record of births or any re- j
]

|
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times she had called at the defendant's house, but the

defendant and Ivy called on the witness most every day.

The witness was then living in 3ist Street, bhetween Sth

amd 9th Avenues, and the defendant had moved to 28th Street

between 6th and 7th Avenues. At that time the witness

was holding a rosition as housekeeper, and her time was

not at her disposal. She did not think she had called on

the defendant more than Ffive times previous to Ivy's dais-

aprearance, On these five occasions, the witness had

called on the. defendant twice in 29th Streo and twice in

35th Street between 8th ana 9th Avenues, the defendant

having moved to the latter rlace, and once in 54th Street

near 7th Avenue, and then she moved from 54th Street to

28th Street, and the witness also visited the defendant
at that place three or four times~—-this being also pre-

vious to Ivy's disappearance, and after her disappearance

the witness cealleqd there almost every day, to ascevrtain




Ivy's whereabouts., Previous to going to thes defendant's
prlace, Ivy worked for a firm in West 1lth Strset, dotting

veils; and, after that, she worked in 22nd Street, as a

waitress in a restzurant for ladies ornlye. She was

there only a couple of weoks. She never lived with a
private family up to the time she went to the defendant's
place. Ivy came home every night for a week or two.

The witness believed that Ivy was engaged in waiting upon
the defendant, to give her her medicine: was so informed by
the defendant. The witness callzd at the defendant's
place within a few days afts=sr Ivy went to the defendant,
to find out something about Ivy. She went in November
or December for a coupls of days oniy. She was taken
sick and she came isack home. She did not return to the
defendant's place. The defendant said that she, the de-
fendant, had a lady friend that would stay with her, and
that she was making preparations to go to Roosevelt Hos-—~
rital, for treatmesnt. So, Ivy did not go to her again
until the following February---February, 1892, The
witness did not call on the defendant during these two

days of Ivy's stay at the defendant's house. She never

received from the defendant money that was not due to her




for Ivy's services. The witness stayed over night once,
and only once, at the defendant's house, and, on that

ocecasion, slept with her dauvughtex», IVvy.

#ow o ko e N

testified that she was 15 yesars of age last 4th of
July, and that the previous witness was her mother. The
witness had known the defsndant since April, 1391, and
fivrst met her, about that times, in Mrs. Jones's apart-
ments, in 13th Street, in the sam= house in which the
witness's mother then lived. The witness went to work
for the defendant, as a servant or companion, about the
month of January, 1892, at the defendant's place, 110
West 29th Street. The houss was a private houss. The
defendant kept only ona room on the third floor» back, and
in it she nad a bed, and slept and cooked in that one
Yroome When the witness first went there she used to
give the defendant her medicine and help her with hér
houseworks. The defendant was sick at that time, but

not in bed. The defendant introduced the witness to a

man, as John Leck, the defendant's hushand, in that room.

The day after the witness went to the defendant's place,




the defendant had a conversation with her, in which she
asked whether the witness ever had had intercourse with
merie. The witness said, no. The defendant said, "Are
vou sure?". The witness said, "Yes, mam." The wit-
ness, continuing, testified: "And so then she started to
t211 me about how, when her ‘husband went away, when shne
went out into the street, the men would follow her and
go up and speak to her, and she did not used to speak
to them at first, but then, aiter a while, when her hus-
band staved so long away, she did; and they used to call
upon her, and they had freguent intercourse with her, and
paid her money for ite. And then she told me all about
it, and the diffevrent peopls shne was with, and asked me
if I would not 1like to make money, so that I could get
nice clothes, and help my mother along. And she kept

asking and asking me if I would not like to go with men,

and so then I told her I had bheen; and she asked me with

how many, and I told her with one; and then she said,
'wouldn't you like to make some money, now? You can't

be any worse." So, every day she kept on telliné me, and
men called frequently there, and every one that would

come she would ask me if I wouldn't have connection with




him. And so thers was

said she was ver angry
<

she would tell Mr. Leck

very angry with me.

Ivy has had a

littles fool 4did not have

he said, 'Why, what is

man calling there.

a ring or dress of hers,---I ecan't

now—--—-in the afternoon,

stoop and asked m2 who I

'Mrs., Leck.' and he said,

said, 'I will see.' Anda

and she said, bring him

room, and I was getting
the afternoon.
g0 with this man and get
lots of money,
would give her $100,
in a flat,
ish if you don't take it.

went out’

on=
with me,
when he came home,
She said to this 'Mr. Leck,ﬁw!Fred.J_

very good offer,

that?!

I had been out

and this

surper readVe
And so she asked
money;

and I said
to outfit me in clothes and put me

And she said,

Then,before supper,and '"kr. Leck'

———

.

man came one time and she

because I would not, and

and he was

this afternoon, and the

sense enough to take it.' And

and she told him about the

to the pawnshop, with

remambher the article

man followed me up the

was living with, and I said,

"Well, could I sesz her?' T

I went up and told Mrs. Leck,

up, and I brought him up into the

It was late in

me wouldn't I like %o

that he would pay me

'No'. And he then said he

'Well, Ivy, you are very fool-

! And I said, 'No'. And he

came in

5




and so she +told him just how ne had asked me and how

came to the house and everything. And she tolild me

was & friend of erse. And sO this man wWas +o come back

after suppe¥o. I stayed at my mother's all nignht that

night." The aefendaant called 2 Me. Leck™ tEFred," OF

wpearic,” . And when the gefendant said she, the wvitness,

was a little fool, “yp. Leck' sald, uyes; you are; and I

will be real angry with you,

if ou don't; because
Y 3

you

kxnow, that is a good offer, and your mother needs money,
too." He said this in the defendant's presencse. That

night-~--the night of the above conversation—uuthe witness

went home, but returned to the defenaant's room the

next mormning, and found the defendant and” Mr. Leck"

+there,—-—--the defendant getting preakfaste. (e, Teck"’

said to the witness, that

morning, in the presence of the

defendant, "You,haven’t propey clothes, and you know your

mothey 1is nhard up, and why' don't you do ite" The wit-

ness answered, vywell; I aidn't 1l1ike the man." The de-—

fendant saild, "Well,

you can't pay any attention to that,

in this businessSe You.mustn't 1ook at the man's 1oo0ks."

Up to +his time the witness had not had connection with

any man since she

nhad bheen at the defendant's place.
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About the first or second week after she had the forego~

ing conversation with the defendant, she had connection
with a man at the defendant's room. The witness testified
that, "Mrs. Leck and I were out walking one evening, and
this man came up to Mrs. Leck and sroke to her, and she
sajld it was an acquaintance of hers. And so he walked
to the house, and she invited him upstairs to her room,
and I went upstairs, and we were talking there for a few
minutes, and he asked her if he could go with her—-——if he

could have connection with me. He said, ¥"She is a very

pPretty little girl, and I should like very much to he
abls te go with her.' The defendant said, 'Well, I will
see, ' All this conversation was in the presence of the
defendant. Then she called me out into the hall, and

she told me about it, and she said, 'Here is a very good

chance, Now, you can't say anything about his looks.

If you don't go with him I shall be very angry with you,

and send you home, for that is all nonsense.' The wit-
ness said, "Well, I don't like to do it.' The defen-

dant said, "Well, it makes no difference, if you want to
have decent clothes and mon=y. Your nfother needs money

very badly." And so I consented. And she says, "When
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we go in, we will sit there for a few minutes, and then

I will get up and pretend to go downstairs, and you can

lock the doovr." And we went in, and we were sitting

there, and she got up and went downstairs, and she nodded
head to me and I got up and locked the dooxr. Then

witness had $ze connection with the man. She saw him

the defendant $5.00, when she returned to the room.

Neither the man nor the defendant gave the witness any
moneys. The defendant save the witness's mother some
money—-—-—-a dollar or two---the witness was not sure. The
defendant bhoughnt the witness a pair of shoes, She, the
witness, remained with Mrs. Leck until the Tirst of Oecto-
ber, as she belisved, During that time the witness

had connection with different meno The defendant was
there at the time. The witness received money from the
men with whom she had connection, and gave it to the de-
fendant, who used to give her, the witness's, mother a
dollar or two every week. The men with whom she had
intercourse were not her friends, but she met them through
the defendant. In the defendant's 28th Street place

the defendant daid improper things to the witness, quite

fregquently, and taught her improper and immoral practices.




In the month of March, 1892, while witness was living

with the defendant, she went with the defendant to Roose-~

velt Hospital. This visit to the hospital was bhefore the

defendant first improrerly treated the witness. The

wiltness was not pressnt when the defendant was beingdwelid. .

The witness went to the hospital upon the suggestion of
the defendant. The name of the physician who attended
the witness was Dr. Painter, who prescrihed for the wit-
ness medicine with whichto syringe herself, but daid not
give her any to take. She used that medicine with the
syringe in the presence of the defendant once or twice.
The dafendant said there was somsthing the matter with
the witness, but the witness deni=zd it. In answer to
a question as to how many times the witness wvisited the
hospital, she testified, "I think I went two or three
times. I used to miss two or three weeks between; I
used to go one week and stay away two or threc weeks.
She went there under the name of Ivy Roche, and she was
then living with the defendant in 29th Street. From
29th Street she moved to 35th Street, from there to 158
West 54th Street, and from there to 28th Street. She

met men in the 23th Street place, and also in the street,




and sometimes she took the men to 28th Street and some-
times to a Mrs. Lloyd's on 6th Avenue near 42nd Street---
a hed-hcuse. All of the money that she received from
such men the witness gave to the defendant. The defen-—
dant used to buy her sone clothes. Her relations with
menn continued in both 28th Street and 54th Streste. She
left the defendant the Llst of October of last year and re-—.
mained home Tor about a week, and then went to live with
a Mrs. Stevens, as a nurse girl. She met a man by the
name of "YHarry Lawrence”, ahout the 1st of September,
at 144 West 28th Street. Stie was lying on the lounge
in the front room when he came in. He was alone. He
said that a friend had sent him. He sat down for about
two hours, and was drinking liguor and talking. The de-
fendant introduced Lawrence to her, the defendant calling
, the witness,"Irene Stanley”. The defendant said
the witness was her sister. Lawrence went away, and the

witness next saw him about a week after that, at the de-

fendant's place. The witness was in bhbed with inflamma-

tion cf the bowels. The defendant was present. About
a week later, Lawrence called again, and she was still

in bed, sick with the same trouble. She did not have




connection with Lawrence, &S she was too sicke. About a
week later, as she was leaving her bed, for the first
time after her 1iliness, Lawrence called again, hut she
did not have connection with him then. She saw him at
the defendant's place on the 11tn of October. Syie saw
Lawrence about four +{imes before the 11lth of October, a
number of those tim=ss she was sick. On the 11lth of
October she was working Ior Mrs. Stevens, in Harlem,
and went down to the defendant's room, in 28th Street,
about 7 o'clock that evening. The defendant occupied
+he flat on the 4th floor front, containing fouy rooms,
in 28th Street. When thne witness arrived there, the
defendant was not in. After waiting a short time the de—f
fendant and Lawrence came ine. She sat up with them
alout 12 o'cloeck, talking and drinking, and then the

fendant went in the fyront room and 1aid down on the

lounge all night. Before going into the front rcom,

defendant asked the witness how she liked it at Mrs.
Stevenc's house, and if she, the witness, would not like
to come bhack to the defendant's place. The defendant
said, "It is a shame that she has to work and support

her brother and mother and the way they treat here"
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Lawrence said, "Well, I will tell you what I will do.

OIf yvou want, I will pay her and put her where she will be
comtortably situated, and wont want for anvthing." The
defendant said, "Well, all righto That will he the best
thing in the world for Ivy, and as soon as all this will
Llow over, we can get a flat together again.” Then the
defendant saida, "Well, it is getting late now. We will
go to bed now, and we will talk about it in the morning."
So we all retired. Nrs. Leck went in the front room and
lay on the lounge all nimht, and Mr. Lawrsnce and I oe-

cupied a room together'. The witness testified that

Lawrence had connection with her that nighte. That was

the first time she had had connsction with Lawrence---in
the early morning oif October 12the. She got ur in the
morning about & ofclock, and Lawrence gave her, the wit-
ness, $10. Mrs. Lieck, the witness and Lawrence were stand
ing in the kitchen, when Lawrence handed the witness the
mMoONeye The witness kept %5.00 and gave the defendant

$5. On the same morning---the 12th---the defendant said
to the witness that she had made a plan with Lawrence

that the witness had better leave Mrs. . Stevens in the

afternoon, and the witness and the defendant should meet
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Lawrence at some place uptown that eveninge. In reply,

the witness said, "Very well," and she went to Mrs.
Stevens, and remained there until about two o'clock, and
then she left, and took a train to 42nd Strect and 6th
Avenue, and sent a message hy a messenger boy to the de~
Tendant, asking the defendant to meet her at Kerrigan's,
on 38th Street and Broadway. She nad been to Kerrigan's
pefore with the defendant, She remained in Kerrigan's
saloon about an hour, and then the defendant came, and

both of them went to 59th Street and saw the Columbian

processione. T+ was then about 3 o'clock in the afternoon.

It was the 13th of October. Then they went to Egan's
saloon, 53rd Street and 7th Avenue, and she waited in
Egan's salcon until the defendant went down to her flate
After waiting there a little while Haryry Lawrence came 1in
alone. He was in a carriage---a hack. Sne then went
with Lawrence to the defendant's flat, and the daefendant
said that she had sent him up there to meet her, the wit-
Nesse. There were then present in the flzt the aefendant
Lawrence, a Mrs. White and a man named Jake Secrivens,

a friend of Mrs. White. And all these people remained

at the defendant's place until about 10 or 11 o'elock.

|
|
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Then they all took a 7th Avenue Car to H9th Street—-——=-

including a man who was &

fyriend of Lawrence's—-—--and walk-!

ed across 59th Street to 6th Avenue, and tonk a car 4Gown

to 50th Streeto. At that point the defaendaant and the

strange'man———friend of Lawrence---~left them, taking 2a

car for downtowne. Pefore leaving the defendant saild,

to Lawrence and the witness, "Well, what are you going

to do?" Lawrence said, "Well, we will go up to the

Lenox Hotel to-night, and I will let you know what 1

will ¢o in the morning with Irene. The defendant said,

A1l right', and then tlhe defendant left. Then Lawrence,

Serivens, Mrs. White and the witness went up to the

T,enox Hotel, 12%rd Street and 8th Avenue, stopring, on the !

&

. saloone. That night she oceupied a room with

Lawrence and had connection with him. The next day Mrs. |

White and the witness went to the Getty House at Yonkerse

The witness registered under the name of May Mansfield.

She had room 15 when she first went to the Getty House,

and on the following night, after seeing Lawrence, she

had rooms 20 and 21. The defendant came to see her two

or three times at the Getty House, and asked her, the

witness, why she hadn't written to her, the defendant.




The witness had a conversation with the defendant. The
witness testified, "I asked her if my mother knew T

was gone vet, and she said no. And so she asked me how
I was going to---1if I had any money to give her, and I
saida ves, and gave her $5.00, and she stayed there that
nighte. The defendant said nothing when the witness

gave her the money. The witness gave the defendant
money every time the defendant came to see her, the
witness—~-about $5. evaery time. The defendant said

"She was awfully hard up, and was not able to ao any
pusiness while mamma was at the house soO muche. The de-
fendant told the witness that the witness's mother used
to go to the defendant's house every davVe. he stayed at
the Getty House about 8 days, then stayed with Mrs. White
one night, and then went to the Maple Hotel, in Yonkers,
and she remained therse three or four days, and while
there, some one wias murdered down in the barroomn. From
there she went to Bolger's Hotel. Mr. Lawrence accom-

panied the witness to ali the hotels, paid her bills and

furnished her with moneye. While at the Maprle Hotel

Mrs. White came to the Maple Hotel with a telegram £ rom

the defendant, and Mrs. White and the witness went to
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New York to see the defendante. She waited at the Eleva-—

ted Station at 125th Street and 8th Avenue while bMrs.

White went to Mrs. L.eckse. Mrs. White had been gone a

long time, so the witness left the station and started

for Nrse. Jackson's house, 122nd Street near 2nd Avenue,

where Mrs. White stopped, and there she met Mrs. Wnite

and the defendant, who said to her, the witness, "They

was hunting for me and she rBad to move away, and all her

clothes and trunks were 1eft at thes Tlate. And she said,

'‘what is Lawrence going to do with wvou? Can't he get

a place, SO that we can both He together?'". Mrs. White

was not present at this conversation. The witness an—

swered, "Well T don't know." The daefendant said, v

will go to Yonkers with you, this evening, and see nhime."

The witness went with the defendant to the Marple Hotel, at

Yonkers, and Mrs. White came after that there. The wit-

ness had & conversation with Mrs. White in the presence

of the defendante. Mrs. White said she thought of taking

a flat in New York, and she wanted to know if the witness

would go board with her. The witness s&id, "Well

it was as Harry said." And Mrs. White said, "Is that

ite™ That was the night of the murder, and Lawrence

.EEW?_E??FE_QE§EMﬂEEHW§@?WHP£§§X_EEEMEQEE¥EE§§;UM“
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same night, at about 9 o'clock, the defendant, the wit-

ness and lawrence went to Bolger's Hotel. A few days
afterwards she gave the defendant $5. and Lawrence sent
her $10. more, by Mrs. Johnson's boy, $£5. of whieh the
boy lost. The defencant said, every time she saw the
witness, that it the witness got into trouble, she was
not to say that she had seen the defendant. The witness
heard from the defendant and from Lawrsnce also that

her mother was looking for her, The defendant said,
"Thefknow that you are gone. Your mother and brother

knows you are gone and they are looking all over for

=~

) #
you, and they have my flat watched all the time,’ On

the 4th of November the witness saw the defendant for
the last time, before her the witness's arrest. The
next day, November S5th, the witness was arrested. From
the time the witness met Harvy Lawrence at the defandant's
Place, down to the time of the arrest, including the time
the witness was at the Getty, Maple and Bolger Hotels,
Lawrence visited the witness very nearly every dav or

every nignt, and continued having connection with her

nearly every night. In
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the witness testifie that she has known her age as long
as she could remember it. Her age had always been talk-
ed about, and laughed about, because she was born on the
4th of July. The yzar of her birth was very frequently
talked about since her arvest than before that,. It was
not true that about that time was the first time she
knew that she was born in 1877. The matteyr had heen

several times two or thrse years ago. She

remembered having lived in Buffaio, and also in Cleveland,

Onhio, thrse or four ye2ars ago and then coming to New York,

stopping at Niagara Falls. She went to school in
Cleveland. The witness had had connection with one

mar about two weeks bhefore she went to the defendant's.
It was the first time that she had had intercourse with
a mane. When the witness first went to the defendant's
rlace, the defendant was not very sick. The day that
she first went to the defendant’'s in January, but would
not be sure she did not stay only two or three days, at
the defendant's, and then come home again, the very first
time; but she remained there right along. She did not

see a physician there at that time. Dr. Vincent attend-
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ed the witness when she had inflammat ion of the bowels,

She did not know PDr. Hinklsman. She used to Z0 home,

from the defendant's to her mother's rlace, about 10 or

11 o'clock at night. She did not know Mrs. Woods, but

had heard of her, She nezver stayved away from ner home

all night except at the defendant's rlacs, The witness
5 house on the even-

first met Mrs. White at the defenduant's

ing of Oc¢tober 12th about half-past S o'clock, in the

23th Street fiat. The man Seriven was also there nat

time, Scriven used to call at the defendant's flat
about once a veek, He was introduced to the witness and

the defendant, by a saloon~keeper named Vietors, in Har-

l=m, Seriven was known as and was also acguaintsd

with Lawrence, The Fierst that the witness was at

the defoendant®s rlace, she returnad home, She was not

sure whether i+t was on the first Or second day that the

defendant began to talk improperly to her, but she thought

She returneq to work for the

it was the second day,

defendant, alfter the day the defendant haa made impropey

remarks to the witness, and the witness never told her

motheyr about it. The defendant told the witness that

it would be best for the defendant to have the money,
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that the witness hada better give her the money, and let

her buy the witness's clothes because her mother might
o’ k]

The defendant said this when the

suspect somesthing.

witness had connection with the Tfirst man. The witness

never told anyhody in her life, anywheres or at any place,

that she had begun with boys for 10 cents ariece, She

did not say, in the defendant's house, in the pPresence

Mrs. Jones, that she, the witness, had received cents

and a gquarter Ffrom boys to have anything to do with her

Person, in any shape or mannsry,. With the exception

o having had connection with one man, as refarred to

bef'ore, she never had any imrroper relations with men

unt il she met the defendant., The witness once went

to a saloon, kept by a man named Considine, to collect

a board bill for her mother from 2 boardar. The witness

would drink a glass of claret, or beer or champagne; but

not more than one glass on sach occasion. She also

tasted whiskey once, She drank in saloons and in other

pPlaces that she nhad been in, She had smoked cigarettes

for about a year or a year and a half. After the wit-—

ness left the Elsvateqg Station at 125th Street, she

arrived at Mrs. Jackson's house before Mrs., White aid.
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Thers the witness had her clothes and nat changed, because;

the defendant said a description was out for her, and

she entered a cab and was driven to the station of the
Elevated rocad, for Yonkers. And the witness and the de-
fendant took the train and went to the Maple Hotel at
Yonkers. She went to a room with the defendant, and
mained at that Hote until 10 o'elock, and then went
Bolger's Hotel and stayed thers all night. That was
nignht of ths murders. Lawrence, the witness, and the
defe=ndant had left the Maple Hot=2l and went to Rolger's,
because they did not want to he connected with the murder
case as witnesses, although the witness knew nothing
about it. Lawrence was with the witness at thie Maple
Hotel about an hour before they all went to Bolger's.

The deiendant did not say to her, +thhe witness, that the
witness's mother had besn hunting nhigh and low Tor hsr,
and that she had hetter go home to here. At the Getty
House she represented Lawrence to be a Trisnd of hers.
The witness never knew that Lawrence's name was not Law-
rence until about a week bhefore she was caught, when Mrs.
White told her, and said that she, Mrs. White, and Law-

vyence had known each other when they were children.
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witness did not know how much mon2y she had received from |

Lawrence; she gave the defendant about $30. or $40. while .
at Yonkers. Lawrence gave the witness, imeluding the
money that she gave to the defendant, altogether, about
$100. She was with Lawrence about three weeks, and dur-—
ing that time he suprorted her and raid all hew# hills,

The defendant never said to her, the witness, "That is

no proper life for yvou. Why don't you go bhack noma?"

But what the defendant did say, was directly and exactly
the oprosite. The defendant said on one occcasion,

"They are getting hot around there. I don't know what

we will do." The defsndant said that the witness's mother

and brother ware looking For

n,

the witness testified that she had not the habit
of drinking wine before going to the defendant’'s place,
She learned to drink at the deafendant's. She also l2arn-—
ed to smoke at the defendant's. She smoked some of her |
brother's cigarettes once in a while before she went to

the defendant's, but she smoked them every day regularly

after going to the defendant's house. Before she went
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to the d=2fendant's she had smoked three or four cigarettass

which she took from her brother and smoked on the sly.

She bought the cigarettes that she smoksd at the defen-—

The defendant bleached her %@éﬂzin 54th

dant's place

Street, to a color "More red than gold"---vreddish gold.

In

2

The witness testified that the defendant decided to dye
her, the defendant's, hair, bescause she thought she would
look better with it dyed, and she sent the witnes:s to the

drug store for a bottle of reroxide of hydrogen, with

which to blesach the desfendant's hair. The witness
did not buy the first supply of reroxide that was brought

into the house.

LA B S .

HARRY M. PAINTER, testified that he was a pPracticing physician,

a graduate of the College of Physicians and Surgeons,
and had been in practice since June 1888, In March,
1892 he was attached to the Roosevelt Hospital, but d4did

not remember having seen the defendant there. He d4dia
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see Ivy Roche there at that time, but he did not remem-

ber seeing her in company with anyone else. She was

under the treatment of the witness and his assistant.

to the guestion, "What was the disease with
which she was suifering?" the witness said, "The diagnosisi
in the history records is contrary; nothing else. I
furnished the history records to the court sometime ago."
The witness d4id not remember how long Ivy Roche was
treated, and the date of her discharge was not kept.
The witness did not remember seeing the defendant there

with Ivy Roche.
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WILLIAM’TRAVEE§uGIBB testified that he was a practicing physi-

s

cian, and graduated from the University Medical College
in 1886, and has been in practice in this City ever
since. He was one of the examining physicians for the
New York Sociesty for the Prevention of Cruelty to Chil-
dren, and, as such examining physician, he 4did, on
Novembeyr 7th, 1892, examine Ivy Roche, and found her
genital organs well developed, and there was a complete

laceration of the hymen, showing that there had been




complete penetration by some blunt object; otherwise

they wers normale.
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|
MAMIE G. WHITE testifisd that she remembered the 12th of Octoker
|

\ last, and was then in the City of ¥ew York, and was with

Mr. Scrivasn on the afternoon of that day. She met a

friend of Scriven's tnhat afternoon. Sne did not Know

fhis full name, but thought his Ffirst name was Elisha.

She met her gentleman friend at Koster & Bial's, and
after the matinee was over they strolled up 6th Avenue,
and Scriven's friend sugpested that he would like to have
a lady friend. The witness, Scriven and Elisha then

went to the dafendant's flat at 144 West 28th Street.

Seriven went into the back room and brought the defendant

out, and introduced her to the witness, and Mr. Storms

was brought in also and introduced to the witness as

Tawrence as
NMr. Storms as she and Storms went +o school together.
2

The party then drank a glass of beer ovr something of that

kind, and the defendant said she had just sent out for

her sistere. The defendant also said that she had sent
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} "My. Lawrence." The witness recognized Mr.
|
|
|




out for a lady or a girl. That was after St orms came

ine. Then MKr. Storms went into the back room and the

next time the witness saw +hem Mr. Storms came in and the

wisness was introduced to IVy Roche as "Miss Mansfislid",

the defendant's sister. That is the only name that the

witness knew Ivy Roche DY e Then the whole party, in-

cluding the witness, Elisha, Secriven, the defendant and

Ivy Roche had another glass of reer, and leflt the house

and started uptown to se¢€ the parade, as it was on the

12th of Octobere. They took a car to 59th Strect. and

stopred at a2 saloon and had drinks, and, latsy On, they

returned to 5 Oth Street and 6th Avenue, and there the

witness and Scriven'said they were going toO the lLenoxX

Hotel, Storms said, "Well, Wwe will stop with vyou, at the

19}

same Tlace that you stop." Then Scriven and the witness

started crossing the street, and the conversation that

took place pbetween the others she could not tell anything

about. The defendant was present when Storms O Law-—

vrence said that he anda Ivy Roche would go to the Lenox

Hotel. In crossing the strest, the witness intended to

take the Elevated but it was sO crowded that she and

Seriven returned to the rest of the party, and took a

T T
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cab to the Lenox Hotel----the witness, Scriven, Storms

and Ivy—»smﬁ.?pe Adefendant and her friend started down-
tOWwWn. When the& reached the Hotel, the witness 4did not
see them register, but the gentlemen left the witness and
Ivy standing inr the hall. Then Stoyms and Ivy went to
their room and the witness went to another room with her
gentleman friend. The next morning Ivy and Storms came
to her, the witness's room, Storms asked the witness what
time she was going to Yonkers, and ;& said before lunch,
and Storms said, "Well, let Ivy go up with you.™ The
witness said, "Very well", and Ivy and the witness took

the 11.30 train at 155th Strect, on the Northern Road,

and went to Yonkers. The witness went to the Getty House!

with Ivy, and told the clerk that Ivy wanted a roome

The witness accompanied Ivy as far as the door and left
her there. That was on Thursdaye. She next saw the de-
feridant twvo or three days later, at the defendant's
house. The defendant asked where Ivy was, and the
witness said at the Getty House, and the defendant said
she would go up there and take Ivy some things. She

called upon Ivy, on the following Friday, at the Getty

House, and saw the defendant there. She also saw Storms
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there on Saturday night. About a week after the witness

called upon Ivy and found the defendant with her,---about

two weeks after Ivy first went to Yonkers—--—-the witness

received a telegram, and, in conseqguence of that message,
the witness took a cabk and went down to the Maple Hotel,
and handed the telegram to Ivy, and had a conversation
with her, and, afterwvards, took a train to 125th Street,
and there they went to the number indicated on the tele-

gram~-—--toc 1lz22nd Street, but did not seg the defendant.

Then the witness returned to the 125th Street Elovated
where she had left Ivy, but Ivy was gone. That
same evening she saw Ivy at the Maple Hotel, with the

defendant. The witness heard the defendant say to Ivy,

that she, the Aﬁmaudr\had done a great deal and sacrificed .

a great deal for Ivy, and that now Ivy d4did not do anything;
for hers She also said that she had sacrificed her :
diamonds and clothes and home and husband for Ivy, and

now Ivy would do nothing for her. The witness asked
Ivy where she went to, after leaving the 125th Street
Elavated Station, and Ivy said that she took a cab and
went to the defendant's and---went down to 122nd Street,

-

and found Y“Rosey," and they went to Yonkers. This was
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said in the presence of the defendant. Afterwards the

defendant and a girl she called Flossie called at the
witness's house, in 143rd Street. The defendant said
that she had heen arrested and taken to the Tombs, or
something of that kind, and that they were aiter Ivy.
The witness asked the defendant if Ivy was her sister,
and the defendant then said, that Ivy was her half sis-
ter. The witness said to the defendant that she wish-
ed the defsndant would not come t her nouse, as she was

afraid the defendant would hring her, the witness, into

rublic, and the defendant left right then and there. In

the witness testified that the defendant asked her where
Ivy was, and the witness said that she diad not know. At
the time that the witness ordered the defendant out of
her House, in 143rd Street, the witness knew nothing
about Ivy's whereabouts. The witness had taken the
defendant out driving ana shopping. The witness went

to school with Lawrence or Storms, but hadn't seen him

for a lonsg time, previcus to the meet ing at the defendant's

—=—~-on the occasion of the Columbian Parade. She had
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known Scriven since about Serptemher. She met him in

Koster & Rial's., The witness did not know whether her

name was registered at the ILenox Hotel. She did not

rerresent herself ags Ivy's mother, at that time, to any-

body,

W M kN B o ow o

e lived in Yonkers, and first met

the defendant at her flat at 144 West 28th Street, in

August last, The witness told the defendant that he

had been sent there by g Triend, and the defendant in-

vited him in and irtroduced him to Ivy Rochs as her

sister Irvenec Stanley, The witness said that he wanted

to see a sirl, The cdefendant saia she had only her sis-

ter who was sick, and ssked him to stay with her, the

defendant, but he declined, He remainea there about

an hour or an hour and a half, ang had a number of

drinks, He calleqg again several times. He also ealleg

on October 1l1th about half-past 10 or 11 o'clock, and

saw the defendant and Ivy, and had a number of drinks

of beer, and, ahout 12 o'elock, the defendant asked him if

he did not want to stay with Ivy that night, and the wit-

.
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ness said yes. They then sat and talked a little while,

and the defendant told them to £0 to bed, and told them

which room to go into, and said that she slept in the

other room. Nothing was said about money that night.
The first night that the witness called there they both

spoxe ol a number of different men that they had been

with, and the amounts of money that the men had paid

them, and they said the amounts were from $5. up, and

that one party paid $50. The defendant spoke about the

$50° man. The defendant left the witness and Ivy at
the room door, saying she slept in the other room. The
witness was in the room all night with Ivy. There was
one hed in that room. The witness undressed and went

to bed that night. ATter the def'endant left him and

Ivy in the room, he did neot leave the room until the

next morning. Ivy remained in tlie room all night. The
witness remaired in that room until about 7 o'clock on

the following morning--—--i2th of October. The witness,
Ivy and the defendant took breakfast together in the de-
fendant's rooms. There was a conversation in the pre-

sence of the defendant. Ivy said that she nad been

working uptown and was tired of her rlace and wanted to
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leave there, and wanted to go away tf'or a while, and asked

the witness if he would take her, and the witness said
he would, if she had a mind to go away, he would take
care of her, and the defendant said that it was the best

thing she could do, to go with the witness for a while.

RBefore he 1left the defendant's place that morning, he
lzid two $5. bills on the breakfast table, one of which

Ivy took, and the other the defendant took. He next saw

the defendant about 7 or half-past 7 o'clock onn the night
of the 12th, at the flat 144 West 28th Street, Only the
defendant was in. About an hour aiterwards Ivy came
there. Then Mrs. White and two gentlemen enterad the

Y OOme Then the entire 1arty, six in number, went and
stopred at a numher of saloons. The Tarty sepavrated at
the corner of 55th Street and Broadway. On leaving the
party he said to the defendant that he and Ivy were go-
ing to the Lenox Hotel together for the night, and he
went with Mrs. White and one of the gentlemen that call-
ed at the defendant's house that night with Mrs. White.
The party of Tour took a cab to the Lenox Hotele. The

witness registered as "H. Lawrence." and remained at the

i
i
Hotel until the following morning about half-past 7 o'clock
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oOMS e The witness and Ivy occuried

umed Mrs. White and the gentleman

The witness identified an entry

gister of the Lenox Hotel as having

aw the other man anéﬁb in the

S

He

what name he wrote. The witness

1 with Mrs. White, anda went to Yonkers

aw Ivy on the following evening at the

3 her board there for her until the

Saturday night, and her room

w3

was there from Thursday wuntil a

Saturday. The witness next saw

lefendant in Ivy's room at the Lenox Hotel three or

. The defendant said she

cams un to

ing along. From the Getty House

Hotel. Two or three

<

days later

defendant at the Getty House.

next saw the defendant at the Maple Hotel

disturbance there. The defendant

about money matterse. The defen-—
the witness that she, the defendant,

—~directing her conversation to the
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witnesse. The witness said that he had nothing to do

with keeping the defendant suprlied with moneys A row
occurred downstairs in the Hotel, and a crowd gathered,
and the witness learned that a man had been killed, so

he and Ivy and the dofsndant left in a cab that night,
and drcove to Beolger's Hotel. He did not stay with them
at the Bolger's Hotel that nighte. A few days later he
received a message, Ifrom the defendant, sent by a boy
rnamed Joseph Jackson. The message was, that the wit-—
ness had better send Ivy to Boston or Philadelrhia, ba2-—
cause heyry people had found out that she had left the
City, and were looking for her. The next day the wit-—-
ness met the defendant on Souith Broadway in Yonkers, and
assured the witnsss that the message which was sent by
Jackson, was true, the witness, however, previously stated
to her that he did not bhelieve it to be true, but that

e helieved the defendant was merely trying to get Ivy
VAV e On a previous occasion the defendant said that
3@ was very much in need of money; that she could not

ray her rent since Ivy left her, and that bhefore Ivy

.left her she did nearly everything the defendant told her

to do, but that now Ivy did only what the witness asked
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her to do. When the witness met the defendant on South

Broadway, Yonkers, she was in company with the boy Jack-
son, and they all got intoc a cab which the witness c¢alled,
and drove to Bolger's Hotel. The entire rarty then had

a number of Arinks, and Ivy hnanded the defendant $5.which
the witness had given Ivy. It was some time during the
week that Ivy was arrested--~--on Saturdayv---that the defen—~
dant was at Bolger's Hotel---either Wednesday or Thursday,
prior to Ivy's arrest. After Ivy was arrested, the
witness called at Mrs. Jackson's, where the defendant

boarded, to tell the defendant that Ivy had been arrest-

ed. It was at 122ndNStreet—«wNo. 122 Rasts - The wit-

ness was arrvrestsd on the 9th of November,Aand Ivy was
arrested on the 28th of Octobere. The witness lhad not been
promised immunity in consideration of his giving test imony
in this case. The witness had a conversation with Mr.
Weeks in which he offered to become a witnsss for Mr.
Weeks. He did not accept anything for his testimony.

The man who first suggestad to Lawvrence to go to the

™ t

defendant's flat said he was a friend of Ivy Roche's---or
rather, a friend of "Mrs. Leck and her sister."

LIE R AL B I R I A




‘BONNELL testified that ¥ Wea s clerk at the Monument

Hotel, formerly the Lenox A g 123rd Street and 8th
Avenue. He was the i . ® that hotel on Octoher
12th, 1392, and = n a e night. He ddentified
People's Exnibit No. 1, and the name YH. Lawrencs

and wife" written uron it, and he assigned them to

room 14, He identified the witness Storms, but could

not swear that Storms or Lawrencs was there that

The entry, "H. Lawrsnce andg wifle,”" was made that

résence of the witnsss. In

the witness testified that People's Exhibit No. 1 wvas

S8

a shiget taken from the Hotel Register,

HENRY J. HUMPHREY testified that he was rProprietor of the Monu-

ment Hotel, formerly known as the Lenox Hotel. At that
Hotel two registers were used, one for the night and one

for the aday. on the night in guestion the witness had
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no regular night register, but had ordered one to be
made, and Feopls's Exhibit No. 1 was a portion of the

register that was used on the night in guestion.

N 6N N Ao RN D

CLUM testified that he was a clerk of the etty House

ESTON T

at Yonkers, on October 16th, 1892, and all through that
monthe. He identified Ivy Rochne as = guest at the Getty
House, at that time, under the name " Miss May Mansfield.
The first ; occupi=d room 15

she ws suite of rooms 20

He also saw Jacob Storms who callad the Getty Houss
under the name of "Harry Lawvence" to seoeo "Miss Mansfield".

She came to the Hotel on October 13th and left on October

2nd. Trhe witness testifisd that the defendant called to

see Y"Miss Mansfield" twice, to his c¢ertain knowl=sdge, and

he believed three times.
R R H M N R R TN
Getty

HORNTON testified that nhe was the headwaiter in the

House, and was such in the month of October, 1892. He

idgntified Ivy Roche as a guest at that Hotel, at that




time, under the name of "Miss Mansfield". She had
visitors who took meals at the table at that hotsl, but
witness could not say that the defendant ever dined there
with "Miss Mansfiz2lda, but by referring to his meal book,

he could testify that "Miss Mansfield had two ladies

dine with her there twice.’ He identified Ivy Roche as

the "Miss May Mansfiz2ld" refsrr-ecd to. He found =sntered
in his meal book, Octobsy 16th, one extra dinner, and

on October 17th ons extra for dinner, and on October 18th
one extra for breakfast, October 2Llst two extras for
SUPPNET. Cn each of these days "there werese two ladies
with Miss Mansfi=2l1ld" in the dining room. The witness
testified that they wers ladiss and not men. William
McPherson was the waiter assigned to "Miss Mansfield's"

takle. In

the witness testified that he was the headwaiter in charge
of the dining room, but he could not swear that "Miss

Mansfield" had tne defendant dine with her.

L I R IR I O B
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MePHERSON testified that he was a waiter, emploved at the

MARTIN

Getty House, Yonkers, in October, 1392, and that he was
the waiter who was assigned to wait on "Miss May Mansfield
while she was ther: He remembered that on one occasion
"Miss Mansfield" nad a couple of ladies at dinner with

He recognized tne defendant as one of those ladies
23

who had dined with "Miss Mansfisla", He had never seen

her before ov since that time, until in court, and
rno one nad yrointed her out to him. The witness identi-
fied Mrs. White as the other lady who had dined with YMiss

Mansfi=la."

EE R R I

IBOLGER testified that he was the propristor of Bolger's

Hotel, in Yonkers, in Octobher, 1892. On the evening of
the 22nd of October-—---it was after midnight---three
peorle arrived in a coachn, at the witness's hotel, a man
and two ladies. The man was Harry Lawrence, The wit-—
ness did not keep a-hotel, but a saloon and boarding

house, and had no register. The witness identified




45
or Lawrence z2s the man who came there on that occasion

with the two womene. He came in and had a conveyrsation
with the witness and went upstairs but the women aid not
He went upstairs to look at the witness's
rooms and to ask him the [rice. After he looked at the
rooms, two ladiess came into the hotel, and the younger
he introduced as his wife and the older one as her sis~
tare. The witnes: could recognize the youngsr But not
the older one when g brought to do 1it. The witness
thad no conversation with the women. The two ladies re-
mained there that night. The older woman left the next
afternoon. The witness identified Ivy Roche as the

young woman whno nad been introduced to the witness as

Lawrence's wife. A Mrs. Connolly was also hoavrding at

the hotesl at that time, and nad a conversation with Ivy

Rochn=. In

g

the witness testified that he did not see the defendant
1eave his hotel, nor could he say that she left in the
afternoon, but he was merely informed of this. The

witness would not swear that the defendant was the wo-
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first-~—-a Frenech woman---a person that she did not know

was the woman, 3s she did not want to identify the right
person and therseby be comrelled to appcar in this case.
The witness testifieda, "I didn't want to be in the case

at all.” In
R

the witness testified that at the time oI touching the

f?ench woman on the shoulder she did not think she might

thereby cause that woman serious troubhle. The witness
testified that it did not hapren when she was under oath
in court. She was called as a witness afterwards, and
then there was no gquestion about the identification.

She had not been si1oken to by anybady in the meantime.
When sne was subpoenaed again she thought she wounld tell
the truth as long as she had to go to court, and it came
to her without any sugegestion from anybody. The witness
testifi=sd that she was a married woman. After she touch-
ed the french woman on the shoulder, she was called as a
witness on the following Fridaye She touched the wo-
man on the shouldey on the first day that she was called

in to identify them, and she thought that was on Tuesday,




and on Thursday she was served with a subpoena to
on Friday. NMothing was said to her when she was

rith a subpoena.
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JACKSON testified that he lived at 92 East 117th Street,

JAMES J.

and at one time lived in Kast 122nd Street. His mother's
name 1is Annie Jackson. He knew the defendant from going
i
to his mothers house. He first met the defendant about
three months ago. Ee had not been a messenger but a
clerk in the District Telegrarphe. At the time that the
defendant lived at the witness's house, No. 221 Bast
122nd Street, the defendart sent the witness with a
message to Storms,-~-~--tc tell hiim to have nothing to do
with Ivy Roche, The witness did not know Storms pre-—
vious to that occasione. The message was a verbal one.
The witness suggested to Storms about Philadelphia or
Boston, but the defendant did not instruvect him in regard

to this; it was the witness's own voluntary sugsgestion.

The defendant gave the witness the instructicns in regard

to the message, at the house of the mother of the witness,

and his mother was present at that time. The defendant




4.9
told the witness to deliver the message to a man byv the

name of Storms or Lawrence, and she described him, - as a
Ytzll thin man,with a kind of a large nose, and angbody

up there would know him," and to inguire at the telegrarh
offfice. The witness inquired at the telegrarph office
and consulted a directory, and then went to the Yonkers
Beeil Comranye. He could not remember whether thie defen-—
dant had instructed him to go to ths Yonkers Beef Company.
At the time of sending the witness with the message, the
defTendant said som2thing about "mother", but the witnsss
could not 1 how the word was used, or to whom it
refferred. Storms gave the witness & The witness
then returned to the defendant anda t 1T that Storms
wanted to sec nim agszin that

the dsfendant to go up there with him,

urgineg, the aefendant consented to accompany him.

witness lost the first $5., and Storms gave him another

$5. The witness and the defendant met Storms, and they

all three went in a carriage together to where Ivy Roche
was. It was the first time he had seen Ivy. H2 re-
mained there bhetween one and two hours.
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ROSANNA LECK testifisd in her own behalf, she was bhorn in

England, was married, and had been married 15 years the

z20th of the coming Mavye. She was 34 years of age on

November 9th, last. ey nusband's name Was TFrederick

Leck. She was marrised in Antioeh, RBlk Co. Illinois.

She lived in Wew York City, off and on, auring the last

12 vearse. she was never before arrested in her 1life.

Two years ana a half ago she mst Ivy Rocne, while visit-—-
ing a friend named Mrs. Jdones. She next saw her at

her mother's. After that she did not seeg Ivy for about

|
l
|
|
|
‘
|
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|

a yeare. Ivy then came to the dgefendant's house one day

on a visit, when the defendant was living on 29th Street.

I+ was shortly after the 9th of November, 1891. Ivy

vemained with the defendant one davYe The defendant want-

ed her to wait on her unt il her husband returned home,

and go to the store and to Dr. Benson for the witnesse.

Ivy remained with her that day until about 6 o'clock.

The defendant next saw Ivy in the latter part of February
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or early part of March, 1892. Ivy promised to return to

the defendant's flat to work, the next day, and the de-—

fendant gave Ivy her latch key, but she did not come
backe. When the witness next saw Ivy the latter said
that she did not return hecause she had been taken ill
the next day, and a Triend of her mother’s had died.

At that time---Fglhy or March-—-~-Ivy remalined with the
defendant from that time until Oc¢tober, when her mother
took her away---she remained with the defendant uantil
abtout the time she went away with Storms. The witness
testified Further, that Ivy "used to give me my medicine,
and sweep and dust the room. was living in one room
only then. And she used to go down to my landlord

for a cup of tea, but I had a small oil stove and she
could also make a cup of tega, and she mostly read to me.
If I wasn't able to get up she would do different little
Auties. " The defendant did not do any cooking in that
Y OOMe She had one room, and generally had her meals
sent in, and her husband went out for his meals, and her
landlord would bring her up anything that she felt ineclin-

ed to eat, that she could not get from the restaurant.

Her landlord was Mrs. Matthews of 110 West 29th Street.
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Ivy used to come to the defendant’'s room at 9 o'clock

in the morning and leave at about 8 oy half-past 8, as
the defendant's husband would come home. Ivy used to
eave the Sefendant's house at that time---8 to B8.30---
te go home. Jesse, the defendant's brother, called at
the defencant’s room and also Mrs. Roche who had slept all
the defendant's room. While the defendant,
Mrs. Roche were together, 5 salid that
veard from a friend of Ivy's, in Chicago, that
he had seen the defendant and Ivy on Broadway,
night, until 12 o' claocke. The defendant said that it

was not true; that Ivy had been sick abed fTor at least

five weeks, and that her mother had been there every days

Ivy's mother said that the report was not true, as she

had been there every day anda Ivy had been sicko. The
witness that neither she nor Ivy ever had a man

call at the place to see either of them. The

defendant testified that, "A friend of Ivy Roche and her

mother sent Storms to my house to find out how Ivy wase.

That is the first time 1 ever saw Jake Stormse." Storms
never slept over night in the defendant's house, she

testified, with her consent, and she is positive that he
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never slept in her house. When Storms first called at

ney house she l1iveda at 144 West 28th Street. She denied

that Storms nad ever taken breakfast at her table or that

he had placed two $5. bills on the tableo. Storms called

there two oY thre= ¢t imes--~the witness could not remember

the exact number of times. The first time Lawrence

came there Ivy was lying on the lounge, and she came to

the defendant and told her that a friend of hers that knew:

hey mother had sent the gentleman to find out how she

was; and he called to know where Ivy's mother WwW&aSe.

defendant asked Ivy what he wanted, and Ivy said that he

was in the front room, and the defendant said that the

front room was rented, and, therefore,

to bring Lawrence

into the dining roome. Lawrence then called for beser,

ana the defendant said that she did not want any beer in

the house, but she afterwards said that she would go for

some, and she brought in two pints of beer. Lawrence oY

Storms remained there unt il 11 o'clock that night. It

was after 8 o' clock when he came there. The defendant

did not make any improper proposals to Ivye She did not

remember the date of his second visit, but it was in the

evening, and they had some beer, "the same as

|
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Ivy was very sick in bed at that time. Lawrence's third

visit occurred on Wednesday night---Columbus night. Ivy
remained with the defendant while she, Ivy, was sick.

On the night of the Columbus Parade Scriven and Lawrence
and Mrs. White were at her house. That was the first
time she had ever seen Mrs. White. Ivy was not working
for the defendant at that time, and had not been for two
or threce weeks before that. Ivy was then employed by
the family in Harlem . Storms came in first, and said
to the defendant that he had a lady and a gentlemen

with him. The ladvaas Mrs. White, and the gentleman

was Seriven. Storms introduced Mrs. White to the de-

fendant and said that she was a school compani8Bn of his whe

he was a child, and "Jake"(meaning Scriven)the same.
Storms asked if they could have any lunch, and the defen-
dant said she had nothing in the house to eat, and then
went to the store and got something, and they had lunch.
In the meantime Storms left the room. When he returned
he brought Ivy Roche with him. He was gone about an
hour. Then they went to 59th Street, to see the parade,
and, afterwards, they went into a saloon at 55th Street

and Broadway, and they all had drinks, and were in there
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about half an hour. From there the party went to Hagan's

saloon, 53rd Street and Brcadway or 7th Avenue. The partY

separated at 53rd Street and 7th Avenue, and the defendant '

i
went away alone. It was not true that she left with a ;

man named Elisha. The witness did not know any man of
that name. That was not the night that the defendant
was not in and Ivy came to her house and waited for her.
Ivy came to the defendant's house on the 1lth of the
month, the day before, and the defendant was at the

with her "lady friend and her husband, at the corner of
29th Street and Broadway, and we never got home until
half-past 12 o'clock, and I found Ivy there when I got
there~--11th of October." Ivy stayed in the defendant's
house that night. She left the defendant's house the
next morning, and said that she was going to lawyer
Stevenson's, where she was working. The witness testi-
fied that she did not tell Ivy that she, the defendant,
had planed with Storms to come there that afternoon, and
that he was to meet the defendant there that afternoon.
The witness did not know that Ivy was coming to her
house that afternoon, from the lady uprtown, and she 4id

not know that Ivy had left her place, or had thought of
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any such a thing. She next saw Ivy, after that, in the

Getty House at Yonkers, on the following Monday or Tues-

daye The witness did not know where Ivy was until Ivy

wrote to the defendant to tell her that she wanted some of

her clothes, and Tor the defendant to bring them to her.
The witness testified that Ivy wirote to the defendant to
say that she, the defendant, was her, Ivy's, sister, or

the defendant would not be allowed to see Ivyve. The de-

fendant took Ivy's clothes to her at the Getty House.

She met Ivy in the parlor there, and took dinner with Ivy,
and left her at 4 o'clock that afternoon. Ivy said that
she was going on the stage, and that she had passed at

the Getty House as an actress, and she said she would not
g0 home to her mother®s. The defendant saw Ivy again

about three days after this visit at the Getty House.

Mrs. White came in shortly after the defendant arrived at
the Getty House. The defendant advised Ivy to return

home, but Ivy refused to do so, and said that Storms had

everyvthing to say and that the defendant had nothing

to say to her. The defendant remained with Ivy at the
Getty House all that night, as she had missed the train.

Storms was not there that night. The defendant arrived
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in wew York the next morning at 8 o'clock. The next

time she went to Yonkers was with Ivy, after Ivy came to
the defendant's house, The defendant and Ivy were at the
hotel at the time that the man was killed. While

there Mrs. White came to the hotel. She had some words
with Ivy at that time about Ivy's going to live with Mrs.
White; Lawrence came there on that occasion. The de-
fendant testified that the only money that she received,
at any time, from either Ivy or Lawrence, was $15.00 that
Storms gave her to get a jacket for Ivy, and she, the
defendant, paid $14.98 for the jacket which Ivy wore

in court on the trial. She sent the boy to Yonkers

a message for Storms, but not to get money. Storms
drove Ivy and the defendant to Bolger's Hotel on the
night of the murder. The defendant remained there all
night, and arrived in New York the next morning at 8

o'elock. Inspector MclLoughlin sent for the defendant

and asked where Ivy Roche was, and the defendant said that

she did not know, but expected a letter from her. The
defendant then went to Mrs. White's, in 143rd Street to
try to find Ivy. She saw Mrs. White, who could not give

Ivy's address. Then she went to Yonkers and found lLaw-
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rence, and informed him of her interview with Inspector

McLoughlin, and that the Inspector had requested her,

the defendant, to find Ivy, and Lawrence said to the de-
fendant, "it is none of your damned business where Ivy
is," and he refused to give her Ivy's address. After-
wards Lawrence took the defendant in a carriage and drove
out to where Ivy was. Ivy said. she would not go home,
and that on the following day she would Z0 Wwhere no

one would find her; that Harry would stick to her. The
next morning the defendant was arrested. The defendant

testified that she never saw Ivy do anything improyer,

or have men call upon her, while she, Ivy, worked for the
defendant, until Ivy made the acquaintance of Lawrence.
Men did not follow her and Ivy on the street, and the de-
fendant did not have conversations with men for improper
purposes. In

C r o s s~ Ex aminat i o n.

the witness testified that Inspector McLoughlin sent for

her to go to his office, and then asked her where Ivy

was, and requested her to find Ivy for him, as Ivy's mothex

said that she, the defendant, knew Ivy's whereabouts.

Mrs. Roche came to the defendant, about two weeks after
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the Columbus Parade, and inquired for Ivy. The defendant
admitted that she did not tell her where she was or whom
she was with, although she knew that Ivy had gone away
with Lawrence, and the defendant had seen Ivy with Law-
rence at the Maple Hotel at Yonkers. She did tell Mrs.
Roche that Ivy was going on the stage. The def'endant
did not tell Mrs. Roche where she, the defendant had seen

Ivy, because , the defendant said, she must look out for

i
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herself, she was not under the defendant's care, or working
i
:

for the defendant. She could not swear that improper
relations existed between Lawrence and Ivy. Lawrence gave
the defendant the money to buy the jacket in the Getty
House. The defendant did not know Lawrence's business,
and never asked him what it was. The last train left

Yonkers for New York at midnight but the defendant sup-

posed had left at a quarter past 10. She testified that
she suprosed she could have found out the correct time.
The defendant testified that the first time she saw Law-
rence was when he came to her house, and represented that
someone had sent him there. The defendant said that
she went to the hospital with Ivy to get her, the defen-

dant's nose treated. Ivy was also treated at the hos-
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pital at that time. The defendant knew what Ivy was

treateda for,. After Ivy had worked for her for several
months she, the defendant, ascertained that Ivy was not

a virtuous girl, and that she was sick, and said she

had been to the Roosevelt Hospital, and the defendant
said to her, "why don't you come with me now, as I am go-
ing there nearly every day for treatment for catarrh."
The defendant knew that Ivy was not a viruous girl, but
she never saw her do anything wrong in her, the defen-
dant's , house, Ivy admitted her sickness to the defen-
dant, and that she had been treated, but was worse as she
had neglected herself, And the defendant tol¢ her to go
to the hospital with her, the defendant, on the following
day. She went to the hospital the next day. She said
that she had heen to the hospital in November 1891, but
did not say anything to Ivy's mother about this. The de-
fendant's bhusband left her in July, while she lived in
54th Street. Her husband did not leave her on account
of Ivy. She had had a few words with her husband about
Ivy. He advised the defendant to get rid of her, Be=~

fore Ivy came to work for the defendant she siad that

she was 16 years of age. Her hushand did not say that
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Ivy was under 16 years of age, and that if the defendant

kept her he and the defendant would get into trouble.
The defendant testified that when she first took Ivy she
was living in one room in 29th Street anada from there she
moved to 35th Street, into one room; anéd from there to
54th Street. She could not remember the number of any
house in which she lived. She rented her front room to

a gentleman named Liebrich. Mrs. Liebrich was mnot known

as"Flossie" but as "Oney”, and she is a sister of the

boy Jackson. She did not remember when she first met
Jake, Mrs. Wnhite's friend; she thought it was before
Columbus d4day. 3he met him on the Street, talking to
Vietor, the day she came from the hospital, and she saw
him next on the night of the Columbus Celebration. At
the time she met him on the street she did not give him
her address. The defendant had never met Mrs. White
before the Columbus affair. Ivy tolda the defendant
Lawrence's real name at Bolger's Hotel. The defendant
testified that she rented out her front parlor and bed-
room to a Mr. Liebrich and his wife for $21. a week, in

the flat at 144 West 28th Street. She d4id not know

ILiebrich's business.

He paid his rent in advance, and
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that is all the defendant wanted to know, and she never

asked him any questions. The defendant testified that th
second time she went to see Ivy at Yonkers Lawrence had
taken Ivy out for a ride, and he said it was too cold,
and asked the defendant if she would buy Ivy a jacket.
The defendant said she would, and Lawrence handed Ivy
three five-docllar bills, and Ivy handed them to the de-—
fendant, and asked the defendant to bring or send the
jacket to hero The defendant bought the jacket for Ivy
2t Hearn's and took it to her at the Getty ‘House at
Yonkers. At that time the defendant did not know that

Mrs. Roche was looking for Ivy. Mrs. Roche 4daid not miss

Ivy or say anything to the defendant about her until two

or three weeks after thate. The defendant testified that

Ivy had been away three weeks before her mother looked for

hex. The witness testified that she was wrong when she

testified on her direct-examination that at the second in- |

terview at the Getty House she, the defendant, told Ivy

N
+hat her mother was lLooking for her. It was three weeks

after the Columbus Parade that she first Jearned that Ivy'
mother was looking for Ivye. The defendant testified that

Mrs. Roche herself came to see her, the defendant, and




*she asked me where Ivy was and I told her I did not
knowe. She said, I must know; and I said the last time

I knew of Ivy or heard she was going on the stage. And

then she asked me whether I knew where she was at the

present time, and I said I did not know." The defendant
testified that she did not tell Mrs. Roche that the last
time she had seen Ivy was in Yonkers, and that she, the
defendant, had visited Ivy several times at Yonkers,

or that Ivy was living at Yonkers with a man named
Lawrence, or that she, the defendant had bought a jacket
for Ivy with Lawrence's money, or that the defendant had
telegraphed to Mrs. White at Yonkers, under the assumed
name of Rosey Johnson, to come down to see her, the de-
fendaant. Mrs. White did not answer the telegram, but,
instead, Ivy came to New York and saw the defendant,who
returned to Yonkers with Ivy. The defendant admitted
that her name was not "Rosey Johnson," but that that was
an assumed name. The defendant sent the telegram, under
the assumed name, to Mrs. White, because she, the defen-
dant, wanted to know where Ivy was, and hadn't heard
from Ivy, and as Lawrence moved from one Hotel to another

with Ivye. The defendant testified that Ivy had been a
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mere servant to her, yet she, the defendant, could not

give any satisfactory reason for sending the telegram to

Mrs. White and wanting to kxnow how or where Ivy was.
The telegram was sent to Mrs. White about two weeks after ?
the Columbus Parade. When Ivy came down, after the tele—?
gram had been sent to Mrs. White, she changed her clothes

and afterwards returned to Yonkers with the defendant, who

was the night of the murder. The next day the defendant

returned to New York, and, on the following day, or the

|
|
!
remained all night with Ivy at the Maple Hotel. That ;
i
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day after, Mrs. Roche asked the defendant where her
dauvughter, Ivy, was, and the defendant told Mrs. Roche
that she, the defendant did not know; and Mrs. Roche said
that the defendant ought to know, and the defendant denied !
all knowledge of Ivy's whereabouts notwithstanding the
fact that she nad the day before seen her at the Maple
Hotel in Yonkers. The defendant did not@;ell Inspector
MeLoughlin anything about Yonkers or fhat Ivy was 1liv-
ing with a man named Lawrence, although she, the defen-
dant, then knew Lawrence and his description, and his

whereabouts in Yonkers with Ivy. The defendant testi-

fied in her direct-examination that Ivy told her, the




defendant, at Bolger's Hotel, Lawrence's right name

was Storms, and,at this point, she testified that Ivy

never told her that his name was Storms, but that she

learned that fact from the prapers at Jefferson Market,

PoN

and, later, she testified that she daig not, in fact,

know how she knew Lawrence's name was Storms. The de-
fendant testified that she left her own flat and went

to Mrs. Johnson's, in 122nd Street, so as to get vid of
the reporters, 10 or 12 of them every day, at her flat,

to inquire about Ivye. Ivy's mother also called at

her flat to inquire about her daughter, Ivy. The de-

fendant left her own flat, after Ivy's mother came to
inquire about Ivy. The defendant was not bothered with
reporters until after Mrs. Roche had called at her flat
to ascertain Ivy's whereabouts, and the defendant had

not given her, Mrs, Roche, any information as to where

Ivy was. The defendant testified that, at the time she
sent the telegram to Mrs. White, she, the defendant, was
at her own flat; and, in answer to the question, "Well,
if you were stopping at your own flat, why didn't you

ask Mrs. White to come to your own flate" the defendant

testified, "Because I didn't want to. I don't know of
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any other reason. "’ Wwhen she sent the telegram to Mrs.

White, to coms down, and after Mrs. Roche had been
looking for Ivy, the defendant, went to Yonkers that very
night, anda spent the night there with Ivy, and then did

not notify Mrs. Roche of Ivy's address.
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LECK testified that the defendant was his wife, and

that they were married at Antioch, Lake County, Illinois,
in the Spring of 1877. He Ffirst testified that he mar-
ried at the place in'57 or '58, then *87 or '68 and final-
ly, in reply to his counsel's guestion, "you mean ‘rren
the witness answered, "'77, I mean. " The witness
testified that he knew Ivy, but that he never urged her

to lzad an immoral life. Ivy's duties were to go eyrrands
for the doctor, to the drug store, etec., and it was her
habit to go home in the evening after suppere. The wit-
ness aid not always take dinner at the same hour; it
depended on the time that the trains arrived on his return
from the races---from the race tracks. He said that

his wife was sick while Ivy was with her. He had a dis-—

pute with his wife at that time, but the controversy aid
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not relate to Ivy but it was in regard to meney matters.

In

the witness testified that his name was Frederick Leck
put that he was gensrally known as "Fred Thompson. "

When asked his business he said, "I make books when I have |

the ecapital, and if I have not I work for others; and I

have dealt faro." He remembered having an interview

with Mr. Stocking of the Society for the Prevention of

Cruelty to Children, after his wife's arrest, but 4id not

+tell Mr. Stocking that he, the witness, nhad a gquarrel

with his wife about having Ivy in the house, and that

she had better get rid of her or that she would get both !
himzelf and herself, the defendant, into trouble. He

1left his wife about July 1892. He afterwards sent her

what money he could spare, sometimes $5,, $10. or $20.

fyrom Baltimore, Washington, Chicago or wherever he was

at the races. He lived with his wife since last July,

one. day———-the day before the trouble. The defendant was

1iving in 54th Street when the witness left her, and at thv
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time of the trouble his wife was living at Mrs. Johnson's

l
l
|
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place, in Harlsm, and he in 29th Street, and she came

there to see him. He went to see Mrs. Roche before

his wife's arrest. Nobody told him to goo. He went
merely to see Mrs. Roche, as they were "Good friends",
and he had not seen her in four or five months. Mrs.
Roche then told him that Ivy had been arrested. A woman
by the name of Mrs. Jones told him Mrs. Roche’'s address.,

He had not seen his wifle at that time. Mrs. Liebrich's

husband was engaged in the same kind of business as the

witness,

LI 3 3R 2 35 BE BE B 2

ET MATHEWS testified that she lived at 129 West 29th Street;

was marrisd and had a family. The defendant lived in
heyr house for a year and a half and Ivy came to live with
the defendant about six weeks before the defendant left
her, the witness's house. She never saw anything wrong
going on in the defendant's room. The witness took
married people to board, Sometimes she asked for refer-
ences and sometimes she did note. She 4did not ask the
defendant for references,
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JACOB TORMS ( "HARRY LAWRENCE" ) | being recalled, testified

the defendant was mistaken when she testified that he

was not at her house the night before thé Columbus Day
Parade, and aid not spend the night there, and did not
take breakfast with her the next morning " or with Ivy.

The defendant is also mistaken when she testified that

Mrs. White and some one by the name of "Jake" came, and

that the witness came in a Ffew minutes afterwards, and th

she let them all in together, and that the witness intro-

duced her to Mrs. White and "Jake¥, and that the witness

asked if they could have lunch, and the defendant said

that the lunch was all out and the boarders had eaten

s
I
i
i
|
I
i
i
i
|
|
|
i
|
|
'
i
i
|
|
\
|
;

it all up, and she went out and got some, and the wit-
ness left and was gone about an hour and brought Ivy
Roche back, and that at that time there was no one else

at the house but Mrs. White and Jake and herself and

man there; and that there was no third man in the party

when they went to see the Parade, or that when the party

|
|
!
i
|
! the witness and Ivy Roche, and that there was not a third
i
|
|
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separated the defendant went home alone. The defen-

dant's testimony in these respects was not true. It was
true that about a week or ten days after Columbus Day,

and upon the occasion of the defendant's second visit to

the Getty House, the witness gave her $15. with which to
buy a coat for Ivy; and that the defendant came to. New
York, bought the coat, and returned that night with it
to Yonkers, and that the coat worn upon the trial by

Ivy Roche was the coat in guestion. The defendant d4did
not on that occasion tell Ivy her mother was looking for
her and wanted her to go home, and Ivy did not say that
he, the witness, had all to saye. . No suech a conversation

ever took place. The witness had given the defendant

money. On the morning of October 12th, he left two $5.00 '

bills on the table; also at Bolger's Hotel Ivy asked him,
the witness, for $5. for the defendant, and the witness
gave the money to Ivy, and saw Ivy give it to the defendanﬁ
and the defendant take it. That was the night that the ;

deTendant came to Yonkers with a messenger by, Jackson.

In

the witness testified that he was receiving a salary of




in Yonkerg at the times referred to.

The
witness testifieqg that it

was not true that he hag given

Ivy about $100. while at Yonkers;

he had given her about
$s0, altogether, in money, outside of expenses——-~he was
not certain put thought the amount was $50., gp ¢s0;
altogetheyr,
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,,? Aistrvict Poalice Conrt.

STATE OF NEW YORK, .
SS.
CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK. §

-

cZ = )
f N zm_ber__,,/d‘ f (2 ﬂ-%& Zé R e T « .. being duly sworn,
(}WM z= M'&»Z e et WP é&%
deposes &nd says, tha;lon the. ... . L 5 cday of . Py R IS%at the

City of New York, in the County of New Yorlk, %/L‘/—'e
Stz zme- %'L/L/I/t_ 2 /7/(/ v i
7 et
ottt Bl 2 ppyEd _,/Zg

- / ¢t
Tl i o Do _ /I-—é&/vaﬁg/éz”//? @/é/f/ 2 et

% 7

oy o Tt Thy IED L A

T@l Irevefove the complainant prass/that the said |

may be apprehended, arrested and dealt with according to law.

Sew07712 L0 be fore e, tids

day of
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STATE OF NEW YOR
CITY AND COUNTY OF NI“\\’ YORIK,

S

Lolice Got, %Wa/ ..... Aistrict,
L
I

=<

of No. -7 5 /a/._ Zz

deposes and says, that a certail ~male child called

[now present], under the age’of sixtecen years, to wit, of the age of////zvééac/ years, is

necessary and material witness on behalf of the People of the State of New York in a certain

criminal case now pending in the Court of Sessigns of, in and for the City and

COLIW“’ York, entitled, The People against N N o=
o e T » wherein the said %ﬁ'ﬂﬂ/&f e . R
%‘% L .is charged with the crime of %@%M ey Under

section. ijZ/ .of the Penal Code of said St: ate, in that he, the said 59%4/&&«/'
%0 ........ /3*—:/ o fz/é //Le_ - L1/‘-—@ B —

/%9/ Fraecl O SR

Pl -
and that the said_
will, as deponent verily believes, unless duly

testimony at the instance of the people. K— /

Wherefore, deponent prays that the said child .
al of t.hc ’1fox(‘ axd cnmmal case, and be committed

held to appear on trial thereof, avoid giving his

may be held as a witness to appear on the tri

temporarily to an institution authorized by law to rcceive children un final commitment, and to

have compensation therefor from the City or County authorities, as a witness, to appear on the

trial of the aforesaid criminal case, in pursuance of the statutes in such case made and provided,

and especially of Section 291 of the Penal Code of the State of New York.

S0z 17//07 ¢ 12e Lhers /)'/’

day of.

Police Fustice.
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CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK, }SS'

e
years, occupation ... /{Z?"z 1L,

~

z

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own

knowledge.

Sworn Lo before e, ihis

day of.. /4/7},/1 i2d




1900

CIry AND COUNTY | . .
OF NEW YORK, ?f s§ . o D_ISTRICT

Of‘ ./1”0-...?%4/ ”A/j - e e --S{/T'(}G[;, CZ/_.Q‘@(Z/,A__N 8 ........ years,

ocoupcotion..%%z&%f-é%%.... inbEi g duwly sworr, deposes and says,

>
o3
&~
<
[
S
=
»
o
oo
N
N




Distriet Police Court.

See. 198—2

CITY Ay/ND COUNTY lss

OF XEW YORK, | . ]
g : A being duly examined before )he under-

ed agecording to law, on the annexod charge ; and being informed that it is h# % right to

X - statement in relation to the charge aguainst jiy<all ; that the statement is designed to
enable h A if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h
that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that b waiver cannot be used

against h on the trial.

Question. /\)/'/ﬁgt is your name ¢ Yo / P
[ Fozna S E2C

. _Answer./.
. qucségfgn.éTjI/crxx' old are you ?
_ Answer. C;A7@‘{‘"4_ —>  —

__Question.  WheTp were you born ¢

2
Answer. 4%7 Yallyz 2 /4)

rl how long have yon resided there ?

Qurestion. YWhere do you live,
- / 7 :
o e A ol A s > ‘ _
Answer. S:Zé/ > el /4 v’ . « 2 . cC = l/%—éz//(_//y
Question. What is vouwr’business or profession ?

Answer. 7 & é_:_\

Qreestion.  (vive any  explanation you mua) think
testimony agninst you, and state any fuacts which you think

exculpation

Droper of the ecirenmstances appearing in the
will tend to your

Answer.

s

[

ol 2 /2

0 fop
409 uaymy,

//' S
12 91U /m)

8

L7

&




i

Police Court____¢ District.

CITY AND COUNTY ss 27 the name of the People of the Stote of New York,; To the Sheriff of the C’ountz/
OF NEW YORK, T of New XYork, or to any Marshal or Policernan oftpe City of New York, GREETING :

Sgc. 151,

undersigned, one of the Fulice

IS%Zat the City of New York, in the County of New Ygrk,

‘Wherefores may De apprehended and bound to
answer the said complaint.

These are Therefore, in the name of the PEOPLE of the State of New York. to command you the said

X SherifF, Marshils and Policemenn. apepeach and every of you, to apprehend the said Defendant and brine
forthwith before me, at the, —. DISTRICT POLICE COURT, in the said City, or in case of my absence
or inability to act, before the nearest or moest accessible Police Justice i s City, to answer the said charge, and to

be dealt with according to law.

Dated at the City of New York, this

. PoLicE JusTIicE.




The within named

having been brought before me under this W rrant, is committed for examination to the

WARDEN and KEEPER of the Gity Prison of the City of New York.
Dated

Police Justice.

. N

5 N V]
ol N
3 % ,
m )
. S
N X
!
“ |
|
! \
]

\

lice Justice.

D

&e.,
boy
S
gistrate, to answer

2

E
MPLAINDT O

THE CO

OoON
his Warrant.

THE PEOPL

int

The Defendant._
d

{ taken, and brought before the Ma
is Warrant may be executed on Sunday or at

1ne:

the within charge, pursuant to the command con-

ta
Th




e e held to ansirer

/4
the fL/y Prison of the City of New Xork, wntil e Jive swele bat
- - N (//’/“

Dated,

T vave admitted the above-named....

to bail to answer by the wundertalking lercto anncced.

Dated, . U £.°%.9)

TTere being icient cause to belicve the willhin named. ..

Dated..

the same, and e be admitted to Lail in tlhe sum of

Iolice Jiestice.

e Police Juwestice.




THE PEOPLE, &c.,

ON TIIL LAI‘\ T

///////f

BAILED,
No. 1,

Residence

Reszdenro ........................................................................ .. Street.
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Gourt of General Sessions of the Learce

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TrE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEw Yorx

aginst

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

R P N

of the CrIiME OF ABDUCTION, committed as follows :

The said &A\MM ’&Q.Bﬁ\,) /

-~

late of the City of New York, in the County of New TYork aforesaid, on the%.-ssk\

day of %——&5\.&_& , In the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

ninety- ,X,\M‘e. » 2t the City and County aforesaid, did teloniously take, receive, harbor,

R U P Y ) "‘Q“‘* PUTRNL WS VO P S ’,\QQn;A,u,:s.\_?\‘\a‘\ e I T D R N
”

employ and 115(3,\0\]3e o Q\Wbm‘, —_— who was then and there a female

under the age of sixteen years, to wit: of the age of Na S years, for the purpose of

rostitution, against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the
3 - 1 b =

peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Atiorney.




